
 

 

14 November 2017 
 
IMPROVEMENT IN FULL YEAR RESULT AND CAPITAL RAISE TO ACCELERATE TRANSFORMATION  
 
Tower Limited (NZX/ASX:TWR) has today reported a full year loss of $8 million for the year ended 
30 September 2017 (FY17), an improvement of $13.5 million on the prior year. 
 
Despite an unprecedented number of large natural events, underlying profit after tax of $18 million 
reflected the positive impact of transformation initiatives. 
 
Features of FY17 results announcement: 

• Reported full year loss after tax of $8 million impacted by Canterbury provisions, Kaikoura 
earthquake and corporate transaction activity 
 

• Business initiatives driving improvements in core metrics demonstrating transformation is 
advancing well, providing confidence in strategy and future performance targets 
 

• Further progress on Canterbury Earthquake claims with the number of open claims reducing 
by 241, down from 564 to 323  
 

• The Tower Board has determined that an additional $70.8 million capital is required to 
enable investment in the business and manage inherent balance sheet risks 
 

• Capital to be raised via pro-rata renounceable entitlement offer at a ratio of 1 New share for 
every 1 Existing share held.  Issue price of NZ$0.42 cents. Vero has provided a commitment 
to participate in the Equity raise.  
 

• Tower’s Board remains strongly committed to paying dividends and to the efficient 
management of capital. It will review the dividend policy and look to recommence dividends 
in FY18. 

 
Overview 
Tower’s full year result shows that its transformation into a leading digital challenger brand is well 
underway and the green shoots seen 12 months ago are now delivering growth.  

Strong results in the New Zealand and the Pacific businesses have been delivered thanks to the 
continued drive to improve all aspects of the business and the customer experience: 

• 12,441 policies were added to Tower’s core NZ book in FY17 
• Core GWP grew 5.8%, delivering full year GWP of $312.4 million 
• Digital sales grew to 30% of new business transactions, up from 9% in March 2016 
• Business as usual claims costs successfully contained at $124.2 million 
• Management expenses reduced $3.9 million on the prior year 

These significant improvements and a steady underlying profit have been delivered in the face of 
an unprecedented number of large natural events in 2017, industry wide claims inflation and an 
increasingly competitive market. 
 
With significant opportunity in the business, Tower is confident its challenger brand transformation 
strategy will deliver long-term shareholder value.  
 

 



 

 

Capital required to accelerate transformation  
Over the past 12 months, the Tower Board has focused on creating a sustainable structure to 
enable Tower to accelerate its transformation and confidently invest in its future, while also 
mitigating the fundamental uncertainty relating to the legacy of the Canterbury earthquakes. 

Board Chairman, Michael Stiassny said it was in the best interests of policy and shareholders to now 
move to a durable capital structure that will support Tower’s transformation programme while also 
managing inherent balance sheet risks. 

“Following extensive, independent review of Tower’s solvency capital, the Board determined that 
additional capital of $70 million is required to achieve those goals.    

“That capital will provide Tower with a strong, durable base to appropriately manage risk and give 
confidence that the legacy of Canterbury is adequately provided for. It will also enable the 
acceleration of Tower’s transformation through investment in IT and digital. 

“The Board believes that improvements already achieved in the business core metrics are an 
indicator of the scale of opportunity within Tower. We are confident that investment will not only 
unlock that potential, but also deliver a true step change in results and long-term value for 
shareholders.  

“Our commitment to paying dividends and efficient management of capital remains. The Board will 
review the dividend policy and look to recommence dividends in full year 2018,” Mr Stiassny said. 
 
Powerful platform for future growth 
Tower CEO Richard Harding said that Tower’s full year result demonstrates that the transformation 
of the business is well underway. 

“As the third largest general insurer in New Zealand and one of the leading insurers in the Pacific, 
we have a powerful platform for future growth. The results we are delivering in the business are 
firm indicators that our strategy to transform Tower into a leading digital challenger brand is 
working. 
 
“In the last 12 months we have grown our business, reduced management expense and contained 
claims costs, despite experiencing the highest number of natural event losses in over 25 years, 
excluding the Canterbury quakes. 
 
“Importantly our focus on customers and delivering what they want through our digital channels has 
had a big impact, with 30% of sales now online, compared to 9%, eighteen months earlier. 
 
 
ENDS 
 
 
Richard Harding 
Chief Executive Officer 
Tower Limited 
ARBN 088 481 234 Incorporated in New Zealand 
 
For media queries, please contact: 
Nicholas Meseldzija 
Head of Corporate Communications 
Mobile: +64 21 581 869 
Email: Nicholas.meseldzija@tower.co.nz 
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Tower Limited 

Results for announcement to the market 
 

Reporting Period 12 months to 30 September 2017  

Previous Reporting 
Period 

12 months to 30 September 2016 

 

 Amount (000s) Percentage change 

Revenue from ordinary 
activities 

$NZ317,443 0.7% increase 

Profit (loss) from 
ordinary activities after 
tax attributable to 
security holder 

$NZ(8,000) 62.8% decrease 

Net profit (loss) 
attributable to security 
holders 

$NZ(8,000) 62.8% decrease 

   

Interim/Final Dividend Amount per security Imputed amount per 
security 

 $NZ nil.  It is not 
proposed to pay 
dividends. 

$NZ nil. 

  

Record Date Not Applicable 

Dividend Payment Date Not Applicable 

  

Comments: For the year-ended 30 September 2017, Tower Limited’s 

reported loss from ordinary activities after tax was NZ$8.0 

million due to increased outstanding claims provisions in 

respect of Canterbury earthquakes (NZ$11.4 million after 

tax); the inclusion of an additional risk margin of $7.2 million 

after tax and claim provisions relating to the Kaikoura 

earthquakes (NZ$4.1 million after tax). 

 

The loss The loss of NZ$8.0 million, including minority interest profit of 
NZ$ 0.5 million, is a decrease of 62% from the prior 
comparable period (FY16: NZ$21.5m loss including minority 
interest profit of NZ$ 0.8 million). 

 

 
Refer to the attached 30 September 2017 audited Financial Statements for 
Tower Limited and its subsidiaries and Investor Presentation for more detailed 
analysis and explanation (including the Net Tangible Asset amount per 
security for the current and previous reporting period). 
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

$ thousands

For the year ended 30 September Note 2017 2016

Revenue

Premium revenue 5 306,760 302,940 

Less: Outwards reinsurance expense (49,845) (49,106)

Net premium revenue 256,915 253,834 

Investment revenue 6 7,643 8,998 

Fee and other revenue 3,040 3,413 

Net operating revenue 267,598 266,245 

Expenses

Claims expense 217,547 240,138 

Less: Reinsurance recoveries revenue (29,996) (54,526)

Net claims expense 7 187,551 185,612 

Management and sales expenses 9 81,744 87,410 

Acquisition proposal expenses 4 3,467  - 

Impairment expense 15  - 19,649 

Financing expenses 835  - 

Total expenses 273,597 292,671 

Profit (Loss) attributed to shareholders before tax (5,999) (26,426)

Tax (expense) benefit attributed to shareholders' profits 10A (2,001) 4,911 

Profit (Loss) for the year (8,000) (21,515)

Profit (Loss) attributed to:

Shareholders (8,461) (22,328)

Non-controlling interest 461 813 

(8,000) (21,515)

Basic and diluted profit (loss) per share (cents) 26 (5.02) (13.21)

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

$ thousands

For the year ended 30 September Note 2017 2016

Profit (Loss) for the year (8,000) (21,515)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Currency translation differences 105 (5,910)

Gain on asset revaluation 17 247 181 

Deferred income tax relating to asset revaluation 10D (29) (23)

Other comprehensive income (loss)  net of tax 323 (5,752)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year (7,677) (27,267)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributed to:

Shareholders (8,143) (27,404)

Non-controlling interest 466 137 

(7,677) (27,267)

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

$ thousands Note

Contributed 

equity

Accumulated 

(losses) profit Reserves Total Total Equity

Year Ended 30 September 2017

At the beginning of the year 382,172     (42,822) (116,772) 222,578    1,374         223,952     

Comprehensive income (loss) - (8,461) 318 (8,143) 466 (7,677)

Transactions with shareholders

Dividends paid 21  -  -  -  - (515) (515)

Other  - (16)  - (16)  - (16)

Total transactions with shareholders  - (16)  - (16) (515) (531)

At the end of the year 382,172 (51,299) (116,454) 214,419 1,325 215,744

Year Ended 30 September 2016

At the beginning of the year 384,585     6,376            (111,696) 279,265    1,644         280,909     

Comprehensive income (loss)  - (22,328) (5,076) (27,404) 137 (27,267)

Transactions with shareholders

Capital repayment plan 21, 23 (2,413)  -  - (2,413)  - (2,413)

Dividends paid 21  - (27,024)  - (27,024) (407) (27,431)

Other  - 154  - 154  - 154 

Total transactions with shareholders (2,413) (26,870)  - (29,283) (407) (29,690)

At the end of the year 382,172 (42,822) (116,772) 222,578 1,374 223,952

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Attributed to shareholders
Non-

controlling 

interest
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

$ thousands

For the year ended 30 September Note 2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities

Premiums received 309,147 295,867 

Interest received 7,734 10,088 

Dividends received  - 9 

Net realised investment gain (loss) (1,928) 3,251 

Fee and other income received 3,040 3,413 

Reinsurance received 28,962 67,935 

Reinsurance paid (50,228) (47,248)

Claims paid (248,183) (261,779)

Payments to suppliers and employees (76,408) (77,248)

Income tax paid (4,908) (4,598)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 13 (32,772) (10,310)

Cash flows from investing activities

Net proceeds from financial assets 21,852 18,380 

(6,883) (9,175)

136 70 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities 15,105 9,275 

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital repayment  - (2,413)

Dividends paid  - (27,024)

Facility fees and interest paid (778)  - 

Proceeds of borrowings 30,000  - 

Capital raise costs  -  - 

Payment of non-controlling interest dividends (515) (407)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities 28,707 (29,844)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11,040 (30,879)

Foreign exchange movement in cash (392) (2,006)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 92,228 125,113 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 12         102,876 92,228 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SUMMARY OF GENERAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Entities reporting

Statutory base

Basis of preparation

Principles of consolidation

Foreign currency

(i) Functional and presentation currencies

The financial statements presented are those of Tower Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group). The

Company and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as Tower or the Group or the consolidated

entity.  The address of the Company's registered office is 45 Queen Street, Auckland, New Zealand.

Tower Limited is a company incorporated in New Zealand under the Companies Act 1993 and listed on the New Zealand

and Australian Stock Exchanges. The Company is a Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 reporting entity under Part 7 of

the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013.

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP). They comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and also New

Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and other applicable financial reporting

standards, as appropriate for Tier 1 for-profit entities.

During the periods presented, the principal activity of Tower Limited Group was the provision of general insurance. The

Group predominantly operates in New Zealand with some of its operations based in the Pacific Islands region.

The financial statements of each Group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in

which the entity operates. The consolidated Group financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and

rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless stated otherwise. 

The Group financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company at balance date

and the results of all subsidiaries for the year. 

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Part 7 of the Financial

Markets Conduct Act 2013 and the NZX Main Board Listing Rules.

The Group financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. They

have been prepared on a fair value measurement basis with any exceptions noted in the accounting policies below, or in

the notes to the financial statements.

Intercompany transactions and balances between Group entities are eliminated on consolidation. 

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when

control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.

The acquisition of controlled entities from external parties is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.

The share of net assets of controlled entities attributable to minority interests is disclosed separately in the balance sheet,

income statement and statement of comprehensive income. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.

The results of any subsidiaries acquired during the year are consolidated from the date on which control was transferred to 

the consolidated entity and the results of any subsidiaries disposed of during the year are consolidated up to the date

control ceased.

Subsidiaries are those entities over which the consolidated entity has control, being power over the investee; exposure, or

rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect

the amount of the investor’s returns. 
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SUMMARY OF GENERAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances

(iii) Consolidation

Cash flows

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign

operation is recognised in the income statements.

The consolidated statement of cash flows presents the net changes in cash flow for financial assets. Tower considers that

knowledge of gross receipts and payments is not essential to understanding certain activities of Tower based on either:

the turnover of these items is quick, the amounts are large, and the maturities are short or the value of the sales are

immaterial.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement or retranslation of monetary items at year end exchange rates are

recognised in the income statements unless the items form part of a net investment in a foreign operation. In this

case, exchange differences are taken to the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve and recognised in the statements

of comprehensive income and the statements of changes in equity.

For the purpose of preparing consolidated financial statements the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with a

functional currency different to the Company are translated at the closing rate at the balance date. Income and

expense items for each subsidiary are translated at a weighted average of exchange rates over the period, as a

surrogate for the spot rates at transaction dates. Foreign currency translation differences are taken to the Foreign

Currency Translation Reserve and recognised in the statements of comprehensive income and the statements of

changes in equity.   

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and

liabilities of the foreign operation and are translated at the closing rate with movements recorded through the Foreign

Currency Translation Reserve in the statements of changes in equity.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions denominated in foreign currencies are

translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the transaction dates. Monetary items

receivable or payable in a foreign currency are translated at reporting date at the closing exchange rate. 

Translation differences on non-monetary items such as financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss are

reported as part of their fair value gain or loss.  
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS TO NZ IFRS

2A

-

-

-

-

-

2B

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been

early adopted by the Group

The application of new or amended accounting standards as of 1 October 2016 has not had a material impact on the

financial statements.

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory

for the Group’s accounting periods beginning after 1 October 2017 or later periods, and the Group has not adopted them

early.  The Group expects to adopt the following new standards on 1 October after the effective date.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards effective 30 September 2017 or early

adopted by the Group

NZ IFRS 9 Financial instruments is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The complete version 

of NZ IFRS 9 was issued in September 2014. It replaces the guidance in NZ IAS 39 that relates to the classification

and measurement of financial instruments. NZ IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and

establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other

comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of classification depends on the entity's

business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments

are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present

changes in fair value in other comprehensive income not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses model

that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in NZ IAS 39. For financial liabilities there were no changes to

classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive

income, for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. NZ IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge

effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship between the

hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the one management actually use

for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to that currently

prepared under NZ IAS 39. The Group intends to adopt NZ IFRS 9 on its effective date and is assessing the effect of

adopting NZ IFRS 9 on its financial statements.

NZ IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The standard will provide a single source of requirements for accounting for all contracts with customers (except for

some specific exceptions, such as lease contracts, insurance contracts and financial instruments) and will replace all

current accounting pronouncements on revenue. New revenue disclosures are also introduced. Tower is assessing

the effect of adopting NZ IFRS 15 on its financial statements.

NZ IFRS 16 Leases is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard replaces the current

guidance in NZ IAS 17 Leases. Under NZ IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right

to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Under NZ IAS 17, a lessee

was required to make a distinction between a finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off balance

sheet). NZ IFRS 16 now requires a lessee to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-

use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. Work continues on assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 16 on Tower's

financial statements. Preliminary assessments indicate the treatment of office buildings, motor vehicles, and other

equipment leases will change. The potential financial impact of changes will result in the creation of a 'right of use

asset' of approximately $11 million, with a corresponding lease liability amount to be recognised, in effect as a gross

up to the balance sheet, of approximately $11 million to $12 million.

NZ IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The standard

replaces the current guidance in NZ IFRS 4, and establishes the principles for recognition, measurement,

presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts. The implementation date for the Group will be for the year ending

30 September 2022. A detailed assessment of the effect of adopting NZ IFRS 17 will be commenced during 2018.

Amendments to NZ IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 October 2017

unless early adopted. Comparatives are not required on first application. The standard requires additional disclosures

regarding both cash and non-cash changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. The standard is not expected

to have a material impact.
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Claims estimation

EQC recoveries

Deferred taxation

Capitalised IT development costs

Reinsurance recovery receivables

Goodwill

Goodwill is an area of significant judgement and estimation. Areas of judgement and subjectivity exist in the assessment

of cash generating units and assumptions underlying goodwill impairment testing. Refer to Note 15 and Note 27 for further

details of  key assumptions used.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is an area of significant judgement and estimation. Deferred tax assets are recognised

for all unused tax losses to the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the losses can

be utilised and there is continuity of ownership (of greater than 49%). Significant management judgement and estimation

is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets recognised, based on the likely timing and quantum of future

taxable profits. This assessment is completed on the basis of the approved strategic plans of Tower Limited and

subsidiaries within the consolidated tax group. If a change in ownership (of greater than 49%) becomes probable,

remaining deferred tax assets from loss carry forwards will be de-recognised and removed from the balance sheet. For

further detail refer to Note 10.

Valuation of net outstanding claims is an area of significant judgement and estimation. Key elements of judgement

included within claims estimations are: the rate of claims closure; the quantum of closed claims reopening; the level of

future increases in building and other claims costs; future claim management expenses; assessments of risk margin;

apportionment of claims costs between the four main earthquake events; and the quantum of new claims being received

from EQC and the average cost of these claims.  

Valuation of additional EQC recoveries in respect of building costs and land damage is an area of significant judgement

and estimation. Areas of judgement and subjectivity exist in assessments of: claim file review of earthquake event

allocation; the quality of assessment information; litigation risk factors; and portfolio conservatism. Tower has filed a

statement of claim against EQC in respect of land damage recoveries.

Key elements of judgement included within recoveries estimations are: the collectability of reinsurance recoveries

(includes consideration of factors such as counterparty and credit risk); recoveries from EQC in respect of land damage

and building costs; and the assessments of risk margin. The nature of estimation uncertainties, including from those

factors listed above, mean that actual claims experience may deviate from reported results.

Refer to Note 8 for further detail on the Canterbury Earthquakes.

The Group makes estimates and judgements in respect of certain key assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgements are

continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Key areas where critical accounting estimates and judgements

have been applied are noted below.

Refer to Note 8 and Note 14 for further detail on EQC recoveries for Canterbury earthquakes.

Capitalisation of IT development costs is an area of significant judgement and estimation. The application of NZ IAS 38

“Intangible Assets” includes accounting considerations required for capitalisation of IT projects. When applying NZ IAS

38, areas of judgement include consideration of impairment indicators, assessments of economic useful life, previous

Board impairment decisions and potential impacts from the active acquisition proposal. For further detail refer to Note 15.

Valuation of reinsurance recovery receivables is an area of significant judgement and estimation. Key elements of

judgement included within recovery estimations are: counterparty and credit risk; and risks around the arbitration process

for the reinsurance contract in dispute. The nature of estimation uncertainties, including from those factors listed above,

mean that actual reinsurance recoveries may differ from expected outcomes.  Refer to Note 14 for further detail.
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 ACQUISITION PROPOSALS

Suncorp Group Limited / Vero Insurance New Zealand Limited (Suncorp)

Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited (Fairfax)

Acquisition Proposal Expenses

Adviser fees

At 30 September 2017, Tower has provided for all costs incurred to that date in respect of the acquisition activity. These

have been recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement as a separate line item (Acquisition proposal expenses).

The Company has worked with various legal, financial and Board advisers to assist with the acquisition proposals. Costs

for work completed by these advisers on the acquisition proposals prior to 30 September 2017 have been included in the

Income Statement. Where no invoice has been received, an estimate of likely costs up to 30 September 2017 has been

made on the basis of best information available at the time.

On 9 February 2017, Tower Limited announced it had entered into a Scheme Implementation Arrangement (SIA) with

Fairfax. Under this agreement, Fairfax agreed to acquire 100% of the Company's shares at $1.17 per share for an

aggregate purchase price of $197 million (the Fairfax proposal).  

Tower has engaged Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited (Goldman) to act as lead financial adviser in relation to the

acquisition proposals and potential capital raising. Goldman advisory fees are linked to the outcome of any acquisition

proposal and capital raising. In the event that an acquisition proposal or capital raising is completed, advisory fees

estimated up to $4.5 million before tax will become payable to Goldman.  

On 27 June 2017, Tower Limited announced it had entered into a Scheme Implementation Arrangement (SIA) with

Suncorp. Under this agreement, Suncorp agreed to acquire 100% of the Company's shares at $1.40 per share for an

aggregate purchase price of $236 million. On 26 July 2017, the New Zealand Commerce Commission announced that it

had declined Suncorp's application to purchase 100% of Tower shares.  

At 30 September 2017, no provision has been made for Goldman advisory fees because at that date, the obligation to pay

fees remained contingent upon the successful implementation of an acquisition proposal or completion of capital raising. 

On 23 August 2017, Suncorp advised that they would be appealing the Commerce Commission decision. On 5

September 2017 the Tower Board lodged its own cross appeal against the Commerce Commission's decision to decline

Suncorp's application to acquire 100% of Tower.

The Fairfax SIA was terminated on 29 June 2017 following Tower's announcement on 27 June 2017 that it had entered

into a SIA with Suncorp. Tower has reimbursed $400,000 of Fairfax's costs under the conditions of its discontinued

scheme. Under the Fairfax mutual termination agreement, a break fee of a further $1.57 million is payable to Fairfax if

another party completes an acquisition of Tower by 31 August 2018. Refer to Note 34 Contingent Liabilities.

On 7 November 2017, Tower advised that the SIA with Suncorp had passed its end date and had been terminated.

Suncorp subsequently announced that as a result, it would no longer be proceeding with its appeal of the Commerce

Commission’s decision to decline its application to acquire Tower.

The Tower Board has withdrawn its cross appeal against the Commerce Commission’s decision.
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TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 PREMIUM REVENUE

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Gross written premiums 312,396 303,236 

Less: Gross unearned premiums (5,636) (296)

Premium revenue 306,760 302,940 

6 INVESTMENT REVENUE

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Fixed interest securities

Interest income 7,734 10,088 

Net realised gain (loss) (631) 441 

Net unrealised gain (loss) 913 (3,142)

Total fixed interest securities 8,016 7,387 

Equity securities

Dividend income  - 9 

Net unrealised gain (loss) (3) (163)

Total equity securities (3) (154)

Net realised gain (loss) (1,297) 2,810 

Net unrealised gain (loss) 927 (1,045)

Total other (370) 1,765 

Total investment revenue 7,734 10,097 

Total net realised gain (loss) (1,928) 3,251 

Total net unrealised gain (loss) 1,837 (4,350)

Total investment revenue 7,643 8,998 

(i) Interest income on fixed interest securities

(ii) Dividend income on equity securities

(iii) Fair value gains and losses

Fair value gains and losses on investments are recognised through the income statement in the period in which they

arise. The gains and losses from fixed interest, equity and property securities have been generated by financial

assets designated on initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Other investment gains and losses have

been generated by derivative financial assets and financial liabilities classified as held for trading at fair value through

profit or loss.

Premiums ceded to reinsurers under reinsurance contracts are recorded as outwards reinsurance expense and are

recognised over the period of the reinsurance contract. Accordingly, a portion of outwards reinsurance premium is treated

at balance date as a prepayment.  

Premiums on unclosed business are brought to account using estimates based on the previous year's actual unclosed

business with due allowance made for any changes in the pattern of new business and renewals.

Premium revenue is recognised in the period in which the premiums are earned during the term of the contract. The

proportion of premiums not earned in the income statement at reporting date is recognised in the balance sheet as

unearned premiums.  

Other

Investment revenue is recognised as follows:

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis when the right to receive payment is established.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

12



TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 NET CLAIMS EXPENSE

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Canterbury earthquake claims (4 key events) 8 15,916 35,084 

Additional risk margin 8 10,000  - 

Kaikoura earthquake claims 5,739  - 

Other claims 155,896 150,528 

Total net claims expense 187,551 185,612 

-

-

- the impact of large losses.

A component of these estimation techniques is usually the estimation of the cost of notified but not paid claims. In

estimating the cost of these, the Group has regard to the claim circumstances reported, any information available from

loss adjusters and information on the cost of settling claims with similar characteristics in previous periods.

Provisions are calculated gross of any reinsurance recoveries except risk margin, which is net of reinsurance recoveries.

A separate estimate is made of the amounts that will be recoverable from reinsurers based on the gross provisions.

Details of specific assumptions used in deriving the outstanding claims liability at year end are detailed in Note 27.

Reinsurance recoveries are recognised as revenue. Amounts recoverable are assessed in accordance with the terms of

the reinsurance contracts in a manner similar to the assessment of outstanding claims. Recoveries are measured as the

present value of expected future receipts.

Claims expense is recognised when claims are notified. Provision is made at the end of the year for the estimated cost of

claims incurred but not settled at balance date, including the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported to the Group. 

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses incurred in settling claims net of any expected salvage value and

other recoveries. The Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims

exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to

be different from the original liability established.

The estimation of claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the

estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified to the Group, where more information about the claim event is

generally available. IBNR claims may often not be apparent to the insured until many years after the events giving rise to

the claims have happened. In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims the Group uses a variety of estimation

techniques, generally based on statistical analyses of historical experience, which assumes that the development pattern

of current claims will be consistent with past experience. Allowance is made for changes or uncertainties which may create

distortions in underlying statistics or which may cause the cost of unsettled claims to increase or reduce when compared

with the cost of previously settled claims including: 

changes in Group processes which might accelerate or slow down the development and (or) recording of paid or

incurred claims, compared with statistics from previous periods;

the effects of inflation; and
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8 CANTERBURY EARTHQUAKES

Canterbury earthquake provisions

$ thousands 2017 2016

Insurance liabilities

Gross outstanding claims (107,200) (149,100)

Additional risk margin (10,000)  - 

(117,200) (149,100)

Receivables

Reinsurance recovery receivables 13,600 50,800 

EQC related to open claims 5,800 57,600 

Less: EQC payable to reinsurers (1,700)  - 

17,700 108,400 

Net outstanding claims (99,500) (40,700)

Change in presentation of comparative insurance liabilities and receivables

The 2016 comparative information in the table above includes receivables from Peak Re and EQC as deductions from

gross outstanding claims relating to both open and closed claims. As the gross outstanding claims liability continues to

reduce, only EQC recoveries for open claims have been deducted from gross outstanding claims liability for the

September 2010 and February 2011 events. For the other earthquakes, EQC recoveries for open claims and reinsurance

recoveries are deducted. Due to the nature of EQC recoveries, the categorisation between open claims and closed claims

is an approximation that takes into account the split between open and closed claims for EQC recoveries already received

as well as EQC recoveries expected to be received.

Tower has received over 16,106 individual claims from customers as a result of earthquakes impacting the Canterbury

region during 2010 and 2011 (2016: 15,990 claims). Like other industry participants, Tower continues to receive 'over-cap'

claims from the Earthquake Commission (EQC). The growth in new claims received has impacted Tower's settlement

rates during the year. Of all claims received, Tower has settled over 15,783 claims at 30 September 2017 (2016: 15,426

claims), representing a 98% settlement rate by number of claims and 93% by value (2016: 96% by number and 89% by

value). To date, Tower has paid out more than $825 million to customers (2016: $749 million) in respect of the four main

earthquakes that occurred on 4 September 2010; 22 February 2011; 13 June 2011 and 23 December 2011.  

As at 30 September 2017, Tower has estimated gross ultimate incurred claims of $897.4 million in respect of the four main

Canterbury earthquake events (2016:  $869.6 million).

Outstanding claims comprises case estimates, claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) and risk margins. In the year

ended 30 September 2017, case estimates have reduced as claims have been settled and paid. These decreases have

been offset however, by increased costs on remaining open claims; new over-cap claims being received from EQC; and

the Appointed Actuary increasing IBNR and risk margins, particularly in respect of litigated claims and additional EQC

recoveries.

The financial cost to Tower of the Canterbury earthquakes is reduced through reinsurance and is reflected within net

outstanding claims. Tower continues to work closely with its catastrophe reinsurance partners as it completes its

Canterbury claims settlement programme. Catastrophe reinsurance partners are required to have a financial strength

rating of at least A- issued by a recognised international rating agency. Tower has a commercial dispute with the provider

of its adverse development cover, Peak Reinsurance Company Limited (Peak Re), which is discussed further in Note 14.  

The table below presents a financial representation of Tower’s net outstanding claims provision at 30 September 2017 in

relation to the four main earthquake events.
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8 CANTERBURY EARTHQUAKES (continued)

$ thousands 2017 2016

Cumulative expenses associated with Canterbury earthquakes:

Earthquake claims estimate (897,440) (869,600)

Reinsurance recoveries 746,623 734,699 

Claim expense net of reinsurance recoveries (150,817) (134,901)

Reinsurance expense (25,045) (25,045)

Additional risk margin (10,000)  - 

Cumulative impact of Canterbury earthquakes before tax (185,862) (159,946)

Income tax 52,710 45,454 

Cumulative impact of Canterbury earthquakes after tax (133,152) (114,492)

Recognised in current period (net of tax) (18,660) (25,272)

Tower has two significant receivable amounts related to closed Canterbury earthquake claims, being $43.75 million from

Peak Re and $65.1 million from EQC (2016: $57.6 million). $17.7 million of this EQC amount is payable to reinsurers

which has been allowed for (2016: $20.7 million). A risk margin of $10.7 million has been allowed for on the receivable

from EQC (2016: $4.3 million).

The Board are actively engaged in monitoring Canterbury earthquake developments. Board process relies on the

Appointed Actuary's determination of earthquake ultimate incurred claims estimates and the derivation of estimated

outcomes. Tower has 323 open claims at 30 September 2017 (2016: 564 open claims). Recognising relative

complexities which exist within remaining open claims, the Appointed Actuary has reviewed each remaining property file

with Tower claims staff. This individual claim methodology included review of the latest specialist assessment reports

and scope of works to repair or rebuild properties to determine the propensity for future costs to vary. In addition,

further provision was made for claims re-opening; claims moving over the EQC cap of $100,000; claims in litigation and

other claim categories.

The following table presents the cumulative impact of the four main Canterbury earthquake events on the income

statement.

Recognising the challenging history of Canterbury earthquake claims and the potential for ongoing complexity in

finalising remaining claims and potential new over-cap claims, the Board has elected to create an additional risk margin

of $10.0 million over and above the provision of the Appointed Actuary, which is set at the 75th percentile probability of

sufficiency.  

This additional risk margin approximates the 80-85th percentile probability of sufficiency of the Appointed Actuary’s

central estimate as at 30 September 2017. This provision will remain at $10.0 million, subject to review by the Board

each half year and will be released once Canterbury Outstanding Claims Liability has sufficiently run off.
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8 CANTERBURY EARTHQUAKES (continued)

Claims

   •  the level of future increases in building and other claims costs

   •  the number of new litigated claims received and the average cost of these claims

   •  the number of new claims expected from EQC and the average cost of these claims

   •  the rate of closed claims reopening

   •  risk margin

   •  future claim management expenses, and

Recoveries

• collectability of reinsurance recoveries

• recoveries from EQC (including litigation risks) in respect of land damage and building costs

• risk margin.

Date of event

$ thousands 2017 2016

September 2010  - 7,700

February 2011  -  - 

June 2011 254,200 256,500

December 2011 486,500 487,500

   •  Continued growth in the level of litigation claims received;

   •  Continued development of claim costs as they progress through the claims life cycle;

Tower has exceeded its catastrophe reinsurance and adverse development cover limits in relation to the February 2011

event. The estimated ultimate incurred claims cost of the February 2011 event totals $507.0 million including risk

margin. Tower has reinsurance for $375.4 million on this event including catastrophe cover, proportional reinsurance

and adverse development cover. During the year ended 30 September 2017, Tower expensed $13.3 million in relation

to the February 2011 event (2016: $35.1 million).

The actuarial reviews performed during the year ended 30 September 2017 identified the following as key contributors

to the increase in expected earthquake claims costs:

   •  Greater than anticipated new over-cap claims received from EQC;

   •  Refinement of actuarial assumptions, including the setting of risk margins.   

Catastrophe reinsurance cover remaining

The key elements of judgement within the claims estimation are as follows:

Given the nature of estimation uncertainties (including those listed above) actual claims experience may still deviate,

perhaps substantially, from the gross outstanding claims liabilities recorded as at 30 September 2017. Any further

changes to estimates will be recorded in the accounting period when they become known.

The catastrophe reinsurance cover headroom remaining is included in the table below.

   •  Increase in the level of future claims handling expenses; and

Tower has also exceeded its catastrophe reinsurance cover limit in relation to the September 2010 event. The

estimated ultimate incurred claims cost of the September 2010 event totals $303.4 million including risk margin. Tower

has reinsurance for $295.8 million on this event including catastrophe cover and proportional reinsurance cover. During

the year ended 30 September 2017, Tower expensed $2.6 million in relation to the September 2010 event (2016: nil).
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8 CANTERBURY EARTHQUAKES (continued)

Sensitivity analysis - impact of changes in key variables

$ millions Sep 2010 Feb 2011 Jun 2011 Dec 2011 30-Sep-17 30-Sep-16

Outstanding claims:

(i) + 5% (1.3) (3.0) - - (4.3) (4.1)

- 5% 1.3 3.0 - - 4.3 4.1

(ii) + 1% 4.9 (9.0) - - (4.1) (9.0)

- 1% (7.0) 9.0 - - 2.0 9.0

Receivables:

Reinsurance recovery receivables

(iii) - 50% - (21.9) - - (21.9) (21.9)

- 100% - (38.8) - - (38.8) (38.8)

(iv) + 10% 0.1 0.7 - - 0.8 0.7

- 10% (0.1) (0.7) - - (0.8) (0.8)

(v) + 10% 3.2 0.9 - - 4.1 0.1

- 10% (3.2) (0.9) - - (4.1) (0.1)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Calculated as 1% of total reported costs (net of EQC contributions) plus IBNR/IBNER moved to/from Feb 2011 event

and the impact on Tower's profit quantified.

Calculated as the impact on net outstanding claims due to 50% or 100% lower recoveries being received.

Change to costs and quantity of 

expected claim estimates 

including building costs and 

other impacts.

Change in apportionment of 

claim costs to / from February 

2011 event.

Adverse development

cover

Recoveries from EQC in respect 

of land damage

Recoveries from EQC in respect 

of building costs

Calculated as the change in case estimates (net of EQC contributions) plus IBNR/IBNER and the impact on Tower's

profit quantified.  Changes in case estimates include over-cap claims, closed claims re-opening and risk margin.

Net outstanding claims are comprised of several key elements, as described earlier in this note. Sensitivity of net

outstanding claims is therefore driven by changes to the assumptions underpinning each of these elements. The impact

of changes in significant assumptions on the net outstanding claims liabilities, and hence on Tower's profit, are shown in

the table below. Each change in assumption has been calculated in isolation of any other changes in assumptions. 

The impact of a change to claims costs is offset by reinsurance where there is reinsurance capacity remaining. The

impact will be nil where the change in claims costs is less than the remaining reinsurance capacity. However, if the

change in claims costs exceeds the reinsurance capacity then Tower's profit will be impacted by the amount of claims

costs in excess of the reinsurance capacity. 

The changes in the table below reflect the impact on Tower's profits should that event occur. 

Change 

variable

Split between events Four main earthquakes
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9 MANAGEMENT AND SALES EXPENSES

Included in total management and sales expenses are the following requiring separate disclosures:

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs 19,973 20,277 

Bad debts written off 176 162 

Change in provision for doubtful debts (945) (307)

Amortisation of software 6,395 3,950 

Depreciation 2,032 2,438 

Office equipment and furniture 928 840 

Motor vehicles 93 170 

Computer equipment 1,011 1,428 

Directors' fees 509 565 

Employee benefits expense 53,600 54,396 

(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (42) (43)

Claims related management expenses reclassified to claims expense (25,998) (22,846)

Auditors remuneration

Fees paid to Group's auditors:

Audit of financial statements
 (1)

495 364 

Other assurance related services
 (2)

30 30 

Non-assurance advisory related services
 (3)

6 149 

Total fees paid to Group's auditors 531 543 

Fees paid to subsidiaries' auditors different to Group auditors:

Audit of financial statements 
(4)

45 51 

Total fees paid to auditors 576 594 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4) Tower Insurance Limited paid all fees for audit services provided to the Group, other than the audit fees of National

Pacific Insurance Limited and Tower Insurance (Vanuatu) Limited.

Non-assurance advisory related services related to Annual Shareholders' Meeting procedures and IT Platform review

(in 2016).

Other assurance related services includes annual solvency return assurance and Pacific Island regulatory return

audits.

Audit of financial statements includes fees for both the audit of annual financial statements and the review of interim

financial statements.  
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10 TAX

10A TAX EXPENSE

Analysis of tax expense

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Current tax 4,468 6,026 

Deferred tax (3,064) (10,615)

Under (over) provided in prior years 597 (322)

Total tax expense (benefit) 2,001 (4,911)

The tax benefit can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

Loss before tax from continuing operations (5,999) (26,426)

Income tax at the current rate of 28% (1,680) (7,399)

Tax effect of:

Prior period adjustments 597 (322)

Non-deductible expenditure/non-assessable income 967 216 

Foreign tax credits written off 1,874 2,226 

Non-taxable dividend from subsidiaries  -  - 

Other 243 368 

Total tax expense (benefit) 2,001 (4,911)

(i) Current tax

(ii) Tax consolidation

(iii) Income tax expense

(iv) GST

The Group is subject to income taxes in New Zealand and jurisdictions where it has foreign operations. Significant

management judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are some transactions

and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.

The Group estimates its tax liabilities based on its understanding of tax law in each relevant jurisdiction. Where the final

tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the

current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made. Deferred tax

assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent it is probable that taxable profits will be available against

which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax

assets that can be recognised based on the likely timing and quantum of future taxable profits.

All revenues, expenses and certain assets are recognised net of goods and services taxes (GST) except where the GST is

not recoverable. In these circumstances the GST is included in the related asset or expense. Receivables and payables

are reported inclusive of GST. The net GST payable to or recoverable from the tax authorities as at balance date is

included as a receivable or payable in the balance sheet.    

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or loss for the period. It is

calculated using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax for

current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Tower Limited and its subsidiaries are part of a single consolidated group for tax purposes, with the exception of Tower

Insurance Limited.  

The income tax expense is the tax payable on taxable income for the current period, based on the income tax rate for

each jurisdiction and adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and

unused tax losses.
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 10 TAX (continued)

(v)  Tax cash flows

10B CURRENT TAX ASSETS

Analysis of current tax assets

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Current 1,206 912 

Non-current 12,256 12,256 

Total current tax assets 13,462 13,168 

10C CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES

10D DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

$ thousands

 Opening 

balance at 1 

October 

 (Charged) 

credited to 

income 

statement 

 (Charged) 

credited to 

comprehensive 

income 

 Closing 

balance at 30 

September 

For the Year Ended 30 September 2017

Movement in deferred tax assets

Provisions and accruals 3,141 (876)  - 2,265 

Property, plant and equipment 3,288 4,493  - 7,781 

Tax losses 29,086 (2,128)  - 26,958 

Other  - 778  - 778 

Total deferred tax assets 35,515 2,267  - 37,782 

(5,037)

Net deferred tax assets           32,745 

Movement in deferred tax liabilities

Deferred acquisition costs (4,851) (227)  - (5,078)

Other (1,294) 1,024 (29) (299)

Total deferred tax liabilities (6,145) 797 (29) (5,377)

5,037 

Net deferred tax liabilities (340)

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to NZ IAS 12

Tax cash flows are included in the statements of cash flows on a net basis other than to the extent that the GST is not

recoverable and has been included in the expense or asset. 

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

A non-current tax asset of $12,256,000 is recognised in the financial statements of the Group as at 30 September 2017 in

relation to excess tax payments made in previous years (2016: $12,256,000). Non-current tax assets are expected to be

recovered from 2021, as determined by the Board approved operational plan for financial years 2018 to 2021. A current

tax asset of $1,206,000 is recognised in relation to excess tax payments made in the Pacific Islands over and above the

estimated tax liabilities for the year (2016: $595,000).

Current tax liabilities of $560,000 relate to taxes payable to off shore tax authorities in the Pacific Islands (2016:

$123,000).

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to NZ IAS 12
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 10 TAX (continued)

$ thousands

 Opening 

balance at 1 

October 

 (Charged) 

credited to 

income 

statement 

 (Charged) 

credited to 

comprehensive 

income 

 Closing 

balance at 30 

September 

For the Year Ended 30 September 2016

Movement in deferred tax assets

Provisions and accruals 2,321 820  - 3,141 

Property, plant and equipment 3,431 (120) (23) 3,288 

Tax losses 19,034 10,052  - 29,086 

Total deferred tax assets 24,786 10,752 (23) 35,515 

(5,360)

Net deferred tax assets           30,155 

Movement in deferred tax liabilities

Deferred acquisition costs (4,885) 34  - (4,851)

Other (1,123) (171)  - (1,294)

Total deferred tax liabilities (6,008) (137)  - (6,145)

5,360 

Net deferred tax liabilities (785)

Deferred tax

10E IMPUTATION CREDITS

$ thousands 2017 2016

Imputation credits available for use in subsequent reporting periods 489 489 

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to NZ IAS 12

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to NZ IAS 12

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences

arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the

corresponding tax base of those items.    

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the

assets are recovered or liabilities settled, based on the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the

temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of the other

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The balance of the imputation account at the end of the year is determined having adjusted for imputation credits that will

arise from the payment of income tax provided; dividends recognised as a liability; and the receipt of dividends recognised

as receivables at the reporting date.

The Group imputation credit account reflects the imputation credits held by the Company as the representative member of

the Group.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in

equity.

Deferred tax liabilities of $946,000 have not been recognised in respect of temporary differences associated with

investments in subsidiaries (2016: liabilities of $166,000).

Recognition of deferred tax assets is a key area of judgement. Management expects to utilise the tax losses against

future profits over the next 4 years.

21



TOWER LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

$ thousands New Zealand Pacific Islands

Other (Holding 

companies & 

eliminations) Total

Year Ended 30 September 2017

Revenue

Net operating revenue 222,117 44,816 665 267,598 

Total revenue 222,117 44,816 665 267,598 

Earnings before interest, tax, 

depreciation and amortisation (15,648) 12,688 6,223 3,263 

Interest expense  -  - (835) (835)

Depreciation and amortisation (1,529) (521) (6,377) (8,427)

Profit (Loss) before income tax (17,177) 12,167 (989) (5,999)

Income tax credit (expense) 2,470 (4,958) 487 (2,001)

Profit (Loss) for the year (14,707) 7,209 (502) (8,000)

Total assets 30 September 2017 481,532 82,664 75,270 639,466 

Total liabilities 30 September 2017 335,602 54,483 33,637 423,722 

819 295 12,059 13,173 

Year Ended 30 September 2016

Revenue

Net operating revenue 218,992 45,765 1,488 266,245 

Total revenue 218,992 45,765 1,488 266,245 

Earnings before interest, tax, 

depreciation and amortisation (12,577) 9,617 (17,078) (20,038)

Depreciation and amortisation (2,076) (379) (3,933) (6,388)

Profit (Loss) before income tax (14,653) 9,238 (21,011) (26,426)

Income tax credit (expense) 2,760 (3,729) 5,880 4,911 

Profit (Loss) for the year (11,893) 5,509 (15,131) (21,515)

Total assets 30 September 2016 479,420 79,104 81,757 640,281 

Total liabilities 30 September 2016 360,613 51,981 3,735 416,329 

481 1,523 7,553 9,557 

Description of segments and other segment information

The Group does not derive revenue from any individual or entity that represents 10% or more of the Group's total

revenue.

Acquisition of property plant and equipment and 

intangibles

Acquisition of property plant and equipment and 

intangibles

An operating segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to

risks and returns that are different to those of other operating segments.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision-maker who reviews the operating results on a regular basis and makes decisions on resource allocation and

assessing performance.  The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Company’s Board of Directors. 

The New Zealand segment comprised general insurance business written in New Zealand. The Pacific Islands segment

includes general insurance business with customers in the Pacific Islands written by Tower Insurance Limited

subsidiaries and branch operations. Other includes head office expenses, financing costs and eliminations.

Tower Group operates predominantly in two geographical segments, New Zealand and the Pacific region. 
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12

$ thousands 2017 2016

Cash at bank and in hand 21,981 25,792 

Deposits at call 76,689 60,932 

Restricted cash 4,206 5,504 

102,876 92,228 

13

$ thousands 2017 2016

Loss for the year (8,000) (21,515)

Add (less) non-cash items

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,032 2,438 

Amortisation of software 6,395 3,950 

Impairment of software  - 19,649 

Unrealised (gain) loss on financial assets (1,837) 4,350 

Movement on disposal of property, plant and equipment (42) (43)

Change in deferred tax (3,024) (10,560)

3,524 19,784 

Change in receivables (7,653) 1,984 

Change in payables (21,537) (11,614)

Change in taxation 116 1,051 

(29,074) (8,579)

Add (less) other items classified as investing / financing activities

Financing costs 778  - 

778  - 

(32,772) (10,310)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Add (less) movements in working capital (excluding the effects of 

exchange differences on consolidation)

Net cash inflows (outflows)  from operating activities

Total cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term,

highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant

risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.  

The effective interest rate at 30 September 2017 for deposits at call is 2.60% (2016: 2.60%). There was no offsetting

within cash and cash equivalents (2016: nil).

Tower is a party to the Canterbury Earthquake Shared Property Process – Insurer Contract (SPP) which sets out

obligations for insurers and appoints a lead insurer to act on behalf of other insurers with respect to the repair and rebuild

of shared properties (known as multi-units). As lead insurer on Canterbury multi-unit repairs or rebuilds, Tower receives

cash from other insurance companies as settlement of their obligations under building contracts covered within the SPP.

Tower separately holds this cash on behalf of other insurers in a segregated bank account.   

At 30 September, Tower was holding $4.2 million (2016: $5.5 million) cash in respect of multi-unit claims as lead insurer

on Canterbury claims. This is recognised within Cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet. Related to this are

corresponding amounts being $1.6 million (2016: $2.7 million) recorded within Insurance liabilities for Tower’s portion of

multi-unit outstanding claims; and $2.6 million (2016: $2.8 million) recorded within Payables as held on behalf of other

insurers in respect of SPP claims.

RECONCILIATION OF LOSS FOR THE PERIOD TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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14 RECEIVABLES

$ thousands 2017 2016

Reinsurance recovery receivables 63,947 68,406 

Outstanding premiums and trade receivables 127,319 125,855 

Other 70,109 60,424 

Total receivables 261,375 254,685 

Analysed as

Current 192,466 173,613 

Non current 68,909 81,072 

Total receivables 261,375 254,685 

Outstanding premiums and trade receivables 128,124 127,605 

Allowance for credit losses and impairment (805) (1,750)

127,319 125,855 

Opening balance (1,750) (2,057)

Provisions added during the year (41) (45)

Provisions released during the year 978 224 

Foreign exchange movements 8 128 

Closing balance (805) (1,750)

Assets arising from reinsurance contracts

Trade and other receivables, including EQC reinsurance recoveries, are included in current assets except for those with

maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date, which are classified as non-current assets.

Assets arising from reinsurance contracts are also determined using the above methods. In addition, the recoverability of

these assets is assessed on a periodic basis to ensure that the balance is reflective of the amounts that will ultimately be

received, taking into consideration factors such as counterparty and credit risk. Impairment is recognised where there is

objective evidence that the Group may not receive amounts due to it and these amounts can be reliably measured.  

Outstanding premiums and trade receivables are presented net of allowance for credit losses and impairment. The tables

below include reconciliations of outstanding premiums and trade receivables, together with the provision for cancellation

at the reporting date.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less

provision for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an on-going basis. The allowance for credit losses and impairment in

relation to trade receivables is provided for based on estimated recoverable amounts determined by reference to current

customer circumstances and past default experience. In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the Group

considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date the credit was initially granted up to the

reporting date. The Group has provided fully for receivables over 120 days past due. Trade receivables between 60 and

120 days past due are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts.  
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14 RECEIVABLES (continued)

Earthquake Commission Receivables

Kaikoura Region Earthquake

Canterbury Earthquakes

Reinsurance Contract in Dispute

Tower is party to an arbitration process with Peak Re regarding an Adverse Development Cover (ADC) policy entered into

in 2015 with the recovery valued at $43.75 million. Currently Tower anticipates the arbitration will take place in March

2018 with a decision by mid-2018. Tower remains confident that it will be successful but both the process and the hearing

hold risk and collection of the owed amount is not certain. An adverse outcome could lead to a nil recovery due to the

binary nature of the process. 

The ADC provides for recovery of claims cost on the February 2011 earthquake. The maximum value of the ADC

recovery is $43.75 million which has been fully recognised in the calculation of Tower's net claims expense in respect of

the Canterbury earthquakes (refer to Note 8).

Other receivables include an amount of $65.1 million due from EQC for land damage and building costs relating to the

Canterbury earthquake provisions as disclosed in Note 8.

In December 2016 Tower Insurance Limited, along with other private insurers, signed a Memorandum of Understanding

(MOU) with EQC whereby private insurers act as agents for the Crown agency in relation to the Kaikoura region

earthquake. Under the agreement, Tower directly lodges, assesses and settles home and contents claims arising from

the 14 November 2016 earthquake in the Kaikoura region, including claims under EQC's $100,000 cap for house claims

and $15,000 cap for contents claims. Claims from earlier earthquakes in the Canterbury region which are still open or

unresolved are not part of this agreement with EQC. The agreement with EQC provides for private insurers to get

reimbursed for claim costs, including costs of settlement and handling. At 30 September 2017, the amount due from EQC

for reimbursement of claims handling expenses and claims paid in relation to the Kaikoura event is $1.3 million (2016: nil). 

Tower acknowledges that the EQC recoveries relating to Canterbury earthquakes are an area of significant accounting

estimation and judgement, including earthquake event allocation, litigation risk factors and other actuarial assumptions

discussed in Note 8.

Tower estimates the gross amount receivable due from EQC is significantly higher than the $65.1 million, but has adopted

this amount, which is the actuarial valuation of the Appointed Actuary. The method by which the actuarial valuation is

completed recognises the inherent risk and uncertainty with recovery of the full gross amount. An amount of $17.7 million

(2016: $20.7 million) will be payable to reinsurers on receipt from EQC of these balances. The amount payable to

reinsurers may vary depending on the balance collected from EQC.
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

$ thousands Goodwill Acquired

Internally 

developed

Under 

development Total

Year Ended 30 September 2017

Cost:

Opening balance 17,744 5,020 31,305 4,554 58,623 

Additions  - 82 5,740 6,237 12,059 

Disposals  - (6)  - (17) (23)

Transfers  -  -  - (5,822) (5,822)

Foreign exchange movements  - 1  -  - 1 

 -  -  - (468) (468)

Closing balance 17,744 5,097 37,045 4,484 64,370 

Accumulated amortisation:

Opening balance  - (4,265) (22,376)  - (26,641)

Amortisation charge  - (235) (6,160)  - (6,395)

Foreign exchange movements  - (1) 1  -  - 

Closing balance  - (4,501) (28,535)  - (33,036)

Net book value

At cost 17,744 5,097 37,045 4,484 64,370 

Accumulated amortisation  - (4,501) (28,535)  - (33,036)

Closing net book value 17,744 596 8,510 4,484 31,334 

Year Ended 30 September 2016

Cost:

Opening balance 17,744 4,223 34,861 14,279 71,107 

Additions  - 846 339 7,070 8,255 

Disposals  - (39)  -  - (39)

Transfers  -  -  - (339) (339)

 -  -  - (702) (702)

Foreign exchange movements  - (10)  -  - (10)

Impairment expense  -  - (3,895) (15,754) (19,649)

Closing balance 17,744 5,020 31,305 4,554 58,623 

Accumulated amortisation:

Opening balance  - (4,047) (18,687)  - (22,734)

Amortisation charge  - (261) (3,689)  - (3,950)

Amortisation on disposals  - 40  -  - 40 

Foreign exchange movements  - 3  -  - 3 

Closing balance  - (4,265) (22,376)  - (26,641)

Net book value

At cost 17,744 5,020 31,305 4,554 58,623 

Accumulated amortisation  - (4,265) (22,376)  - (26,641)

Closing net book value 17,744 755 8,929 4,554 31,982 

Transfers to Property, plant and 

equipment

Software

Transfers to Property, plant and 

equipment
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

SOFTWARE

General use computer software  3-5 years 

Core operating system software  3-10 years 

IMPAIRMENT OF SOFTWARE

GOODWILL

IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR GOODWILL

$ thousands 2017 2016

Carrying amount of goodwill 17,744 17,744 

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing at the cash-generating unit level every six months. No impairment loss has

been recognised in 2017 as a result of the impairment review (2016: Nil).

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the

business combination over the Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities of the entity acquired, at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, goodwill on acquisition of a

business combination is not amortised but is tested for impairment bi-annually or more frequently if events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,

allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units, or groups of cash generating units, that are expected to

benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are

assigned to those units or groups of units. 

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

On disposal of an entity the carrying value of any associated goodwill is included in the calculation of the gain or

loss on sale.

Goodwill is allocated to the New Zealand general insurance cash generating unit. The carrying amount of goodwill

allocated to the cash generating unit is shown below: 

Impairment of goodwill is a key area of judgement.

Internally generated intangible assets are recorded at cost which includes all the directly attributable costs

necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Amortisation of internally generated intangible assets begins when the asset is available for use and is amortised on

a straight line basis over the estimated useful life.

Application software is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is charged on

a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the software.

The Group has reviewed the carrying value of software intangible assets (both internally developed and under

development) for indicators of impairment as at 30 September 2017. Assessment of impairment indicators included

reviewing the technical feasibility of completing the software development so it would be available for use; the

intention to complete the software development; and whether the software would generate probable future

economic benefits.

The review was undertaken in light of expectations for future technology platforms required to support growth in the

New Zealand and Pacific insurance businesses. The Directors concluded that no impairment of software intangible

assets was required as at 30 September 2017. 

Following the impairment review in 2016, the Group reduced the estimated useful economic life and amortisation

period of the core operating system software to 3 years from 1 April 2016. This increased the annual amortisation

by $844,000.

The determination of estimated useful economic life is a key area of judgement.

An impairment charge of $19.65 million was recorded at 31 March 2016, and was recognised in the 30 September

2016 financial statements relating to Internally developed software and Software under development categories.
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

IMPAIRMENT REVIEW METHOD

SENSITIVITY TO CHANGES IN ASSUMPTIONS

16 DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Balance at the beginning of year 19,973 20,277 

Acquisition costs during the year 20,961 19,973 

Current period amortisation (19,973) (20,277)

Total deferred acquisition costs 20,961 19,973 

Analysed as:

Current 20,961 19,973 

Non-current  -  - 

Total deferred acquisition costs 20,961 19,973 

Management considers that the recoverable amount from the general insurance business, as determined by the

appraisal value, will exceed the carrying value under a reasonable range of adverse scenarios.

Acquisition costs incurred in obtaining general insurance contracts are deferred and recognised as assets where

they can be reliably measured and where it is probable that they will give rise to premium revenue that will be

recognised in subsequent reporting periods.

Deferred acquisition costs are amortised systematically in accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of

risk under the general insurance contracts to which they relate. This pattern of amortisation corresponds to the

earning pattern of the corresponding premium revenue.

The recoverable amount of the general insurance business has been assessed with reference to its appraisal value

to determine its value in use. A base discount rate of 14% was used in the calculation (2016: 14%). Other

assumptions used are consistent with the actuarial assumptions in Note 27 in respect of Tower Insurance. The

cash flows were projected over the expected life of the policies. The projected cash flows are determined based on

past performance and management's expectations for market developments with a terminal growth rate of 2%

(2016: 2%). 
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

$ thousands

Land and 

buildings

Office 

equipment and 

furniture Motor vehicles

Computer 

equipment Total

For the Year Ended 30 September 2017

Cost

Opening balance 2,710 7,481 1,277 14,038 25,506 

Additions  - 291 69 754 1,114 

Revaluations 247  -  -  - 247 

Disposals (27) (74) (231) (19) (351)

Foreign exchange movements 29 17 7 (9) 44 

Closing balance 2,959 7,715 1,122 14,764 26,560 

Accumulated depreciation

Opening balance  - (2,004) (930) (13,061) (15,995)

Depreciation  - (928) (93) (1,011) (2,032)

Disposals  - 57 188 16 261 

Foreign exchange movements  - (5) (2) (7) (14)

Closing balance - (2,880) (837) (14,063) (17,780)

Closing balance

Cost / revaluation 2,959 7,715 1,122 14,764 26,560 

Accumulated depreciation  - (2,880) (837) (14,063) (17,780)

Net book value 2,959 4,835 285 701 8,780 

For the Year Ended 30 September 2016

Cost

Opening balance 2,754 6,749 1,396 13,597 24,496 

Additions  - 1,182 203 619 2,004 

Revaluations 181  -  -  - 181 

Disposals  - (85) (122) (33) (240)

Foreign exchange movements (225) (365) (200) (145) (935)

Closing balance 2,710 7,481 1,277 14,038 25,506 

Accumulated depreciation

Opening balance  - (1,513) (1,022) (11,740) (14,275)

Depreciation  - (840) (170) (1,428) (2,438)

Disposals  - 82 124 7 213 

Foreign exchange movements  - 267 138 100 505 

Closing balance - (2,004) (930) (13,061) (15,995)

Closing balance

Cost / revaluation 2,710 7,481 1,277 14,038 25,506 

Accumulated depreciation  - (2,004) (930) (13,061) (15,995)

Net book value 2,710 5,477 347 977 9,511 
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings

Depreciation

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Furniture & fittings 5-9 years

Motor Vehicles 5 years

Buildings 50-100 years

Leasehold property improvements 3-12 years

Property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at cost including transaction costs and subsequently measured at cost

less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic valuations by external independent appraisers less

subsequent depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the

gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to allocate the assets' cost or revalued amounts, net of any

residual amounts, over their useful lives. The assets' useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each balance

date. An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if it is considered that the

carrying amount is greater than its recoverable amount.

Land and buildings are located in Fiji and are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined using an income approach

whereby future rental streams are capitalised at a rate appropriate for the type of property and lease arrangement. This

value is then adjusted to take into account recent market activity. Valuation was performed as at 30 August 2017 by Rolle

Associates, registered valuers in Fiji. There has been no material movement in the valuation between 30 August 2017

and 30 September 2017. Inputs to the valuation of the Fiji property are considered to be based on non-observable market

data, thus classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Inputs include gross rentals per square meter of similar property

in the Suva area, recent comparable sales of commercial property in Suva and a capitalisation rate of 7.0% (2016: 7.0%).

Had land and buildings been recognised under the cost model the carrying amount would have been $1,145,000 (2016:

$1,145,000). The revaluation surplus for the period is recorded in other comprehensive income and has no restrictions on

the distribution of the balance to shareholders.
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18 PAYABLES

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Trade payables 16,479 16,125 

Reinsurance payables 4,063 4,445 

Payable to other insurers 2,590 2,798 

Other payables 27,992 26,132 

Total payables 51,124 49,500 

Analysed as:

Current 51,124 49,500 

Non current  -  - 

Total payables 51,124 49,500 

19 PROVISIONS

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Employee benefits 5,773 4,177 

Total provisions 5,773 4,177 

Analysed as:

Current 5,592 4,037 

Non current 181 140 

Total provisions 5,773 4,177 

Provision is made for employee entitlements for services rendered up to the balance date. This includes salaries, wages,

bonuses, annual leave and long service leave. Liabilities arising in respect of employee entitlements expected to be

settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts. All other employee entitlements

are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided up to

the balance date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows, discount rates used are based on the interest

rates attaching to government securities which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability. 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year

which are unsettled. Payables are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Tower Insurance is a party to the Shared Property Process – Insurer Contract (SPP) which sets out obligations for

insurers and appoints a lead insurer to act on behalf of other insurers with respect to the repair and rebuild of shared

properties (known as multi-units). As lead insurer on multi-unit repairs or rebuilds, Tower Insurance receives cash from

other insurance companies as settlement of their obligations under building contracts covered within the SPP. Tower

Insurance has recorded amounts received from other insurers as a Payable, recognising these funds are restricted in use.

Funds can only be applied to the rebuild or repair of properties within the SPP that Tower Insurance is lead insurer for.

Tower Insurance holds this cash on behalf of other insurers in a segregated bank account.   

At 30 September 2017 there was $2.6 million (2016: $2.8 million) recorded within Payables as funds held on behalf of

other insurers in respect of SPP claims. Refer also to Note 12 for further details on cash held in respect of multi-unit

claims as lead insurer.   

Provisions are only recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event

or decision, and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions

are recognised as the best estimate of future cash flows discounted to present value where the effect is material.
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20 INSURANCE LIABILITIES

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Unearned premiums 154,848 150,807 

Outstanding claims 171,156 210,202 

Additional risk margin 10,000  - 

Total insurance liabilities 336,004 361,009 

Analysed as

Current 297,190 291,845 

Non current 38,814 69,164 

Total insurance liabilities 336,004 361,009 

Opening balance 150,807 155,677 

Premiums written 296,855 288,537 

Premiums earned (292,153) (293,911)

Foreign exchange movements (661) 504 

Closing balance 154,848 150,807 

21 DISTRIBUTIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS

DIVIDEND PAYMENTS

RETURN OF CAPITAL

The table below includes the reconciliation of the unearned premiums as at the reporting date:

Outstanding claims are measured at the central estimate of the present value of expected future payments after allowing

for inflation and discounted at the risk free rate. In addition a risk margin is added to the claims provision to recognise the

inherent uncertainty of the central estimate and to ensure provision is at least at 75% probability of sufficiency.

There were no Tower Limited dividend payments during the year ended 30 September 2017.

In 2015 the Company commenced on market share buyback of up to $34 million.  Capital of $2.4 million was  bought back 

in the half year to 31 March 2016.

The expected future payments include those in relation to claims reported but not yet paid, claims incurred but not yet

reported (IBNR), claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER) and anticipated claims handling costs. Claims handling

costs include costs that can be associated directly with individual claims, such as legal and other professional fees, and

costs that can only be indirectly associated with individual claims, such as claims administration costs.  

Provision has been made for the estimate of claim recoveries from third parties.

Liability adequacy testing is performed in order to recognise any deficiencies in the income statement arising from the

carrying amount of the unearned premium liability less any related deferred acquisition costs and intangible assets not

meeting the estimated future claims under current insurance conditions. Liability adequacy testing is performed at a

portfolio level of contracts that are subject to broadly similar risks and are managed together as a single portfolio.  

The final dividend for the 2015 financial year of 7.5 cents per share was paid on 3 February 2016. The total amount paid

was $12,687,553. There were no imputation credits attached to the dividend and the Dividend Reinvestment Plan was not

offered. 

On 24 May 2016 the Directors announced the voluntary on-market share buyback would stop with immediate effect.

Consequently there was no on-market share buyback during the year ended 30 September 2017.

The interim dividend for the 2016 financial year of 8.5 cents per share was paid on 30 June 2016. The total amount paid

was $14,336,340. There were no imputation credits attached to the dividend and the Dividend Reinvestment Plan was not

offered. 

There was no return of capital during the year ended 30 September 2017.

Refer to Note 8 for further details on the additional risk margin.
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22 BORROWINGS

$ thousands Currency

Interest 

Rate

Rollover Date 

(drawn) / 

Maturity Date 

(undrawn) Face Value

Unamortised 

Costs Carrying Value Fair Value

As at 30 September 2017

Bank facilities (drawn) NZD 4.505% 13-Nov-17 30,000 (79) 29,921 29,921 

Bank facilities (undrawn) NZD Variable 9-Sep-19 20,000  -  -  - 

Total borrowings (79) 29,921 29,921 

As at 30 September 2016

Bank facilities (undrawn) NZD Variable 9-Sep-19 50,000  -  -  - 

Total borrowings  -  -  - 

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Analysed as

Current 29,921  - 

Non current  -  - 

Total borrowings 29,921  - 

STANDBY CREDIT FACILITY

COVENANTS

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is

probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. The fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity

services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

The Company entered into a cash advance facility with Bank of New Zealand on 7 September 2016. The facility

provides for an amount of up to $50.0 million that can be drawn for general corporate purposes over a three year term

and is subject to normal terms and conditions for a facility of this nature, including financial covenants. 

In May 2017, the Company utilised the cash advance facility agreement. An amount of $30.0 million was drawn (from

the available $50.0 million).  Funds were used for new share capital within Tower Insurance Limited.

All borrowings are unsecured and are subject to various financial covenants. The Company has fully complied with all

covenants during the year ended 30 September 2017.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,

borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the

redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective

interest method.
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23 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

$ thousands 2017 2016

Ordinary share capital (fully paid) 382,172 382,172 

Total contributed equity 382,172 382,172 

Represented by:

Number of shares 2017 2016

Ordinary shares (issued and fully paid) 168,662,150 168,662,150 

Movement in ordinary shares:

Opening balance 168,662,150 169,983,470 

Buyback of share capital  - (1,321,320)

Closing balance 168,662,150 168,662,150 

24 RESERVES

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR)

Opening balance (4,443) 791 

Currency translation differences arising during the year 100 (5,234)

Closing balance (4,343) (4,443)

Separation Reserve

Opening balance (113,000) (113,000)

Closing balance (113,000) (113,000)

Asset revaluation reserve

Opening balance 671 513 

Gain on revaluation, net of deferred tax 218 158 

Closing balance 889 671 

Total reserves (116,454) (116,772)

Ordinary shares issued by the Group are classified as equity and are recognised at fair value less direct issue costs. All

shares rank equally with one vote attached to each share.   There is no par value for each share.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign controlled entities and net investment of a foreign entity are taken to

the foreign currency translation reserve as described in Note 1. The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net

investment is disposed.

The asset revaluation reserve is used to recognise unrealised gains on the value of land and buildings above initial cost.  

The separation reserve was created in 2007 at the time of the demerger of the New Zealand and Australian businesses in

accordance with a ruling provided by the Australian Tax Office (ATO). It will be carried forward indefinitely as a non-equity

reserve to meet the requirements of the ATO.
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25 NET ASSETS PER SHARE

$ dollars 2017 2016

Net assets per share 1.28 1.33 

Net tangible assets per share 0.90 0.96 

$ thousands 2017 2016

Net assets 215,744 223,952 

Less: deferred tax (32,405) (29,370)

Less: intangible assets (31,334) (31,982)

Net tangible assets 152,005 162,600 

26 EARNINGS PER SHARE

There was no dilutive impact on basic earnings per share for 2017 (2016: nil).

$ thousands 2017 2016

Loss attributable to shareholders (8,461) (22,328)

Number of shares 2017 2016

168,662,150 169,069,382 

Cents 2017 2016

Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share (5.02) (13.21)

Net assets per share represent the value of the Group’s total net assets divided by the number of ordinary shares on issue 

at the period end. Net tangible assets per share represent the net assets per share adjusted for the effect of intangible

assets and deferred tax balances.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and diluted earnings per

share

Reconciliation to net tangible assets is provided below:

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributed to shareholders of the Company, excluding any

costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributed to shareholders of the Company by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue during the year adjusted for the weighted average number of

ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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27 INSURANCE BUSINESS DISCLOSURE

27A NET CLAIMS EXPENSE

$ thousands

Risks borne in 

current year

Risks borne in 

prior years Total

Risks borne in 

current year

Risks borne in 

prior years Total

Gross claims expense

Direct claims - undiscounted 171,160 46,316 217,476 148,710 91,358 240,068 

Movement in discount 43 28 71 53 17 70 

Total gross claims expense 171,203 46,344 217,547 148,763 91,375 240,138 

Reinsurance and other recoveries

(16,640) (13,354) (29,994) (12,094) (42,428) (54,522)

Movement in discount (1) (1) (2) (3) (1) (4)

Total reinsurance recoveries (16,641) (13,355) (29,996) (12,097) (42,429) (54,526)

Net claims expense 154,562 32,989 187,551 136,666 48,946 185,612 

27B OUTSTANDING CLAIMS

(a) Assumptions adopted in calculation of insurance liabilities

Rick Shaw, B.Sc. (Hons), FIAA, Appointed Actuary; and

Peter Davies, B.Bus.Sc, FIA, FNZSA.

Inflation rates varied from

Inflation rates for succeeding year

Inflation rates for following years 

Discount rates varied from  

Discount rates for succeeding year

Discount rates for following years

Claims handling expense ratio

Risk margin

2016

4.9% - 23.1% 6.3% - 21.8%

In addition to the risk margin range shown above, the total risk margin also includes $23,900,000, gross of reinsurance

(2016: $17,700,000) associated with the Canterbury earthquakes.  

0.0% - 6.3% 0.0% - 6.3%

0.0% - 6.3% 0.0% - 6.3%

0.0% - 6.3% 0.0% - 6.3%

2017 2016

Reinsurance and other recoveries - 

undiscounted

Current year amounts relate to risks borne in the current financial year. Prior period amounts relate to a reassessment of

the risks borne in all previous financial years including those arising due to the Canterbury earthquakes. Refer to Notes 7

and 8.

3.1% - 39.1% 0.0% - 56.4%

0.0% - 3.8% 0.0% - 3.8%

0.0% - 3.8% 0.0% - 3.8%

0.0% - 3.8% 0.0% - 3.8%

The estimation of outstanding claims as at 30 September 2017 has been carried out by the following Actuaries:

The New Zealand actuarial assessments are undertaken in accordance with the standards of the New Zealand Society of

Actuaries, in particular Professional Standard No. 30 "Valuations of General Insurance Claims". The Actuaries were

satisfied as to the nature, sufficiency and accuracy of the data used to determine the outstanding claims liability. The

outstanding claims liability is set by the Actuaries at a level that is appropriate and sustainable to cover the Group's claims

obligations after having regard to the prevailing market environment and prudent industry practice.

The following assumptions have been made in determining net outstanding claims liabilities:

2017
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27 INSURANCE BUSINESS DISCLOSURE (continued)

Short tail claims within 1 year

Long tail claims in the Pacific Islands

Inwards reinsurance

Inflation rate

Discount rate

EQC recoveries

Apportionment        

Claims handling expense

Risk margin

0.9 to 1.8 years

The weighted average expected term to settlement of outstanding claims (except for Canterbury earthquake claims) based

on historical trends is:

Insurance costs are subject to inflationary pressures. Inflation assumptions for all classes of business are based on current

economic indicators for the relevant country.

For motor and property classes, for example, claim costs are related to the inflationary pressures of the materials and

goods insured as well as labour costs to effect repairs. These costs are expected to increase at a level between

appropriate Consumer Price Index (CPI) indices and wage inflation.       

Outstanding claim liabilities are discounted to present value using a risk free rate relevant to the term of the liability and the

jurisdiction.

greater than 10 years greater than 10 years

2017 2016

within 1 year within 1 year

1.0 to 1.8 years

Risk margins are calculated by jurisdiction. The risk margin for all classes when aggregated is less than the sum of the

individual risk margins. This reflects the benefit of diversification. The measure of the parameter used to derive the

diversification benefit is referred to as correlation, which is adopted with regard to industry analysis, historical experience

and actuarial judgement.

The risk margins applied to future claims payments are determined with the objective of achieving 75% probability of

sufficiency for both the outstanding claims liability and the unexpired risk liability. 

For each claim to which additional EQC recoveries relate, Tower has allocated recoverable amounts according to the 

quality of information and evidence available.  Claims with primary evidence (e.g. independent expert documentation) have 

been assessed as having a strong position for recovery.  Claims with non-primary evidence (e.g. general documentation 

like post code analysis or adjacent locations) will have a lower likelihood of recovery.  

Tower assesses claims and apportions damage between Canterbury earthquake events on an individual property basis.

The allocation process uses a hierarchical approach based on the relative quality and number of claim assessments

completed after each of the four main earthquakes. Results from the hierarchical approach are used as an input to the

actuarial valuations which estimate the ultimate claims costs. 

The estimate of outstanding claim liabilities incorporates an allowance for the future cost of administering the claims. This

allowance is determined after analysing historical claim related expenses incurred by the classes of business.

The outstanding claim liabilities also include a risk margin that relates to the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate of

the future payments. 

Risk margins are determined on a basis that reflects the business. Regard is given to the robustness of the valuation

models, the reliability and volume of available data, past experience of the insurer and the industry, and the characteristics

of the classes of business written.

Uncertainty in claims is represented as a volatility measure in relation to the central estimate. The volatility measure is

derived after consideration of statistical modelling and benchmarking to industry analysis. The measure of the volatility is

referred to as the coefficient of variation (CoV), defined as the standard deviation of the distribution of future cash flows

divided by the mean.  
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The following analysis is in respect of the insurance liabilities:

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

133,898 129,058 

Risk margin 27,885 14,663 

Claims handling costs 3,914 4,177 

165,697 147,898 

Discount (270) (201)

Net outstanding claims 165,427 147,697 

Reconciliation of movements in discounted outstanding claim liabilities

$ thousands Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net

Balance brought forward 210,202 (62,505) 147,697 220,200 (65,914) 154,286 

(553) 98 (455) 699 3 702 

217,547 (29,996) 187,551 240,138 (54,526) 185,612 

(246,040) 76,674 (169,366) (250,835) 57,932 (192,903)

Total outstanding claims 181,156 (15,729) 165,427 210,202 (62,505) 147,697 

Reconciliation of movements in undiscounted claims to outstanding claim liabilities

$ thousands Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net

1,968 (367) 1,601 1,731 (90) 1,641 

Discount 60  - 60 (13) 2 (11)

Outstanding claims 2,028 (367) 1,661 1,718 (88) 1,630 

Short tail outstanding claims 163,766 146,067 

Total outstanding claims 165,427 147,697 

(b) Sensitivity analysis

Central estimate of expected present value of future payments

for claims incurred

The Group's insurance business is generally short tail in nature. Key sensitivities relate to the volume of claims, in particular

for significant events such as earthquakes or extreme weather. 

The Group has exposure to historical inwards reinsurance business which is in run off. While this business is not material, it

is sensitive to claims experience, timing of claims and changes in assumptions. Movement in these variables does not

have a material impact on the performance and equity of the Group.  

2017 2016

Effect of change in foreign 

exchange rates

Incurred claims recognised in the 

income statement

Claim (payment)  recoveries during 

the year

Outstanding claims undiscounted

2017 2016
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(c) Future net cash out flows

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Expected claim payments

50,622 39,580 

3 to 6 months 32,137 22,255 

6 to 12 months 43,064 19,234 

After 12 months 39,604 66,628 

Total outstanding claim liabilities 165,427 147,697 

27C RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

(a) Objectives in managing risks arising from insurance contracts and policies for mitigating those risks

-

-

-

(b) Concentration of insurance risk

Risk Source of concentration Risk management measures

the use of reinsurance to limit the Group's exposure to individual catastrophic risks.  

The following table shows the expected run-off pattern of net outstanding claims:

Within 3 months

An accumulation of risks arising from 

a natural peril

Insured property concentrations Accumulation risk modelling, reinsurance 

protection 

A large property loss Fire or collapse affecting one building 

or a group of adjacent buildings 

Maximum acceptance limits, property risk 

grading, reinsurance protection 

The financial condition and operations of the insurance business are affected by a number of key risks including insurance

risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, market risk, financial risk, compliance risk, fiscal risk and operational risk, (refer to Note

29). Notes on the policies and procedures employed in managing these risks in the insurance business are set out below. 

The risk management activities include prudent underwriting, pricing, and management of risk, together with claims

management, reserving and investment management. The objective of these disciplines is to enhance the financial

performance of the insurance operations and to ensure sound business practices are in place for underwriting risks and

claims management.

The key policies in place to mitigate risks arising from writing insurance contracts include:

comprehensive management information systems and actuarial models using historical information to calculate

premiums and monitor claims;

monitoring natural disasters such as earthquakes, floods, storms and other catastrophes using models; and
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(c) Development of claims

Ultimate claims cost estimate Prior 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Total

At end of incident year 113,839 123,816 138,878 137,220 154,562 

One year later 117,277 124,667 138,720 145,970 

Two years later 116,819 125,502 138,851 

Three years later 117,862 125,408 

Four years later 142,015 

142,015 125,408 138,851 145,970 154,562 

Cumulative payments (141,740) (125,125) (138,094) (139,064) (119,644)

90,759 275 283 757 6,906 34,918 133,898 

Discount to present value (3) (3) (11) (8) (19) (226) (270)

Discounted central estimate 90,756 272 272 749 6,887 34,692 133,628 

Claims handling expense 3,914 

Risk margin 27,885 

Net outstanding claim liabilities 165,427 

15,729 

Gross outstanding claim liabilities 181,156 

27D LIABILITY ADEQUACY TEST

%

Central estimate claim % of premium

Risk margin

Liability adequacy tests are performed to determine whether the unearned premium liability is sufficient to cover the

present value of the expected cash flows arising from rights and obligations under current insurance contracts, plus

an additional risk margin to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate. The future cash flows are future

claims, associated claims handling costs and other administration costs relating to the business.

If the unearned premium liability less related deferred acquisition costs exceeds the present value of expected

future cash flows plus additional risk margin then the unearned premium liability is deemed to be adequate. The

risk margins applied to future claims were determined with the objective of achieving at least 75% probability of

sufficiency of the unexpired risk liability using the methodology described above. The unearned premium liabilities

as at 30 September 2017 were sufficient (2016: sufficient).

The following table shows the development of net outstanding claims relative to the current estimate of ultimate

claims costs for the five most recent years:

$ thousands

Current estimate of ultimate 

claims cost

Undiscounted central estimate

Reinsurance recoveries on 

outstanding claim liabilities and 

other recoveries

2017 2016

41.2% 45.3%

12.0% 9.3%
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27E INSURER FINANCIAL STRENGTH RATING

27F REINSURANCE PROGRAMME

27G SOLVENCY REQUIREMENTS

Unaudited Unaudited Audited Audited

$ thousands 2017 2016 2017 2016

Actual solvency capital 149,317 120,684 166,823 140,827 

Minimum solvency capital 61,387 56,350 70,545 67,047 

Solvency margin 87,930 64,334 96,278 73,780 

Solvency ratio 243% 214% 236% 210%

27H

The methodology and bases for determining the solvency margin are in accordance with the requirements of the Solvency

Standard for Non-life Insurance Business published by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand. 

ASSETS BACKING INSURANCE BUSINESS

The Group has determined that all assets within its insurance companies are held to back insurance liabilities, with the

exception of property, plant and equipment and investments in operating subsidiaries.

Assets backing insurance liabilities are managed in accordance with approved investment mandate agreements on a fair

value basis and are reported to the Board on this basis.

Tower Insurance Limited has an insurer financial strength rating of ‘A-’ (Excellent) issued by international rating agency

AM Best Company Inc. with an effective date of 16 August 2017.  

Reinsurance programmes are structured to adequately protect the solvency and capital positions of the insurance

business. The adequacy of reinsurance cover is modelled by assessing Tower's exposure under a range of scenarios.

The plausible scenario that has the most financial significance for Tower is a major Wellington earthquake. Each year, as

part of setting the coming year's reinsurance cover, comprehensive modelling of the event probability and amount of the

Group's exposure is undertaken.

The minimum solvency capital required to meet solvency requirements under the Insurance (Prudential Supervision) Act

2010 is shown below. Actual solvency capital exceeds the minimum solvency capital requirement for Tower Insurance

Group by $96.3 million (2016: $73.8 million) and Tower Insurance parent by $87.9 million (2016: $64.3 million).

The Reserve Bank of New Zealand imposed a condition of license requirement for Tower Insurance Limited to maintain a

minimum solvency margin of $50.0 million. This minimum solvency requirement continues to be a requirement for Tower

Insurance Limited.

Tower Insurance Limited Tower Insurance Limited Group
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28A FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT CATEGORIES

(iii)  Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been

transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

(i)  Loans and receivables

(ii)  Financial liabilities at amortised cost

(iv)  Fair value

(v)  Offsetting financial instruments

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss; loans

and receivables; and liabilities at amortised cost. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial

assets and liabilities were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at

initial recognition.  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted on an

active market. The Group's loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents

in the balance sheet. Loans and receivables are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently

at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. 

(vi)  Derecognition

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are non-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are

not quoted on an active market. The Group's financial liabilities comprise trade, reinsurance and other payables in the

balance sheet. Financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently at

amortised cost less any impairment.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise of financial assets that are either held for

trading or designated on initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is classified in this

category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term or if so designated by management.

Designation by management takes place when it is necessary to eliminate or significantly reduce measurement or

recognition inconsistencies or if related financial assets or liabilities are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in

the income statements. The net gain or loss recognised in the income statements includes any dividend or interest

earned on the financial assets.

Derivatives are categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. All derivatives entered into by the

Group are classified as held for trading.

Financial assets and liabilities are measured in the balance sheet at fair value with the exception of short term amounts

which are held at a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally

enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset

and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group does not hold financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting arrangements other than cash and

cash equivalents. Refer to Note 12.
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$ thousands Note Total 

Loans and 

receivables

Financial 

liabilities Designated Held for trading

As at 30 September 2017

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 102,876 102,876  -  -  - 

Trade and other receivables 257,964 257,964  -  -  - 

Investments 167,702  -  - 167,702  - 

Derivative assets 231  -  - 231  - 

Total financial assets 528,773 360,840          - 167,933  - 

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 25,814  - 25,814  -  - 

Borrowings 29,921  - 29,921  -  - 

Total financial liabilities 55,735  - 55,735  -  - 

$ thousands Note Total 

Loans and 

receivables

Financial 

liabilities Designated Held for trading

As at 30 September 2016

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 92,228 92,228  -  -  - 

Trade and other receivables 253,115 253,115  -  -  - 

Investments 188,522  -  - 188,522  - 

Derivative assets 57  -  - 57  - 

Total financial assets 533,922 345,343  - 188,579  - 

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 26,532  - 26,532  -  - 

Derivative financial liabilities 735  -  - 735  - 

Total financial liabilities 27,267  - 26,532 735  - 

The analysis of financial assets and liabilities into their categories and classes is set out in the following tables:

At amortised cost At fair value through profit or loss

At amortised cost At fair value through profit or loss
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28B FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(iv) Derivative financial liabilities and assets

The fair value of derivative financial liabilities and assets is determined by reference to market accepted valuation

techniques using observable market inputs. There have been no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

during the current financial period (30 September 2016: nil).

- The fair value of fixed interest securities is based on the maturity profile and price/yield.

- The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet

date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value.

- Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial

instruments.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3. At

30 September 2017, the Level 3 category included an investment in equity securities of $1,412,000 (2016: $1,406,000).

These investments are in unlisted shares of a company which provides reinsurance to Tower and a company which owns

a building used by Tower. The fair value is calculated based on the net assets of the company from the most recently

available financial information. In the case of the property owning company, the property is periodically valued by a third

party independent valuer. The valuation has been calculated using the Income Capitalisation Approach and a sensitivity

analysis has been performed later in this note.

(iii) Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities held at amortised cost

Carrying values of loans and receivables, adjusted for impairment values, and carrying values of other financial liabilities

held at amortised cost reasonably approximate their fair values.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)

is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data

where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value

an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2. The following fair value measurements are used:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction

between market participants at the measurement date. Refer below for details of valuation methods and assumptions

used by Tower for each category of financial assets and liabilities.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents reasonably approximates its fair value.

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and held for trading

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet

date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,

broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring

market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the

current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.
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$ thousands Note Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

As at 30 September 2017

Assets

Investment in equity securities 1,412  -  - 1,412 

Investments in fixed interest securities 166,256  - 166,256  - 

Investments in property securities 34  - 34  - 

Investments 167,702  - 166,290 1,412 

Derivative financial assets 231  - 231  - 

Total financial assets 167,933  - 166,521 1,412 

Liabilities

Borrowings 29,921  - 29,921  - 

Total financial liabilities 29,921  - 29,921  - 

As at 30 September 2016

Assets

Investment in equity securities 1,406  -  - 1,406 

Investments in fixed interest securities 187,082  - 187,082  - 

Investments in property securities 34  - 34  - 

Investments 188,522  - 187,116 1,406 

Derivative financial assets                    57                     -                      57                     -   

Total financial assets 188,579  - 187,173 1,406 

Liabilities

Derivative financial liabilities 735  - 735  - 

Total financial liabilities 735  - 735  - 

$ thousands 2017 2016

Opening balance 1,406 1,972 

Total gains and losses recognised in profit or loss (3) (163)

Foreign currency movement 9 (403)

Closing balance 1,412 1,406 

$ thousands

Carrying 

Amount

Favourable 

changes of 10%

Unfavourable 

changes of 10%

As at 30 September 2017

Investment in equity securities 1,412 141 (141)

As at 30 September 2016

Investment in equity securities 1,406 141 (141)

The following table shows the impact of increasing or decreasing the combined inputs used to determine the fair value of

the investment by 10%:

The following tables present the Group's assets and liabilities categorised by fair value measurement hierarchy levels.

Investment in equity securities

The following table represents the changes in Level 3 instruments:
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28C    IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

29 RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has delegated to the Audit and Risk Committee the responsibility to review the effectiveness and efficiency of

management processes, internal audit services, risk management and internal financial controls and systems as part of

their duties. The Risk and Compliance team is in place in an oversight and advisory capacity and to manage the risk and

compliance framework. 

Tower Limited's objective is to satisfactorily manage these risks in line with the Board approved Group Risk and

Compliance policy. Various procedures are put in place to control and mitigate the risks faced by the Group. Business

managers are responsible for understanding and managing their risks including operational and compliance risk. The

consolidated entity’s exposure to all high and critical risks is reported monthly to the Board and quarterly to the Audit and

Risk Committee.  

The financial condition and operating results of the Group are affected by a number of key financial and non-financial

risks. Financial risks include market risk, credit risk, financing and liquidity risk. The non-financial risks include insurance

risk, compliance risk and operational risk. The Group's objectives and policies in respect of insurance risks are disclosed

in Note 27, while the managing of financial and other non financial risks are set out in the remainder of this note.

In respect of financial assets carried at amortised cost, with the exception of trade receivables, the impairment loss is

reversed through the income statement to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the

impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been

recognised. Subsequent recoveries of trade receivables previously written off are credited against the allowance account. 

Financial assets, with the exception of those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of

impairment at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that the estimated

future cash flows of the asset have been impacted as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial

recognition of the financial asset. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the carrying

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

For all financial assets, other than trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced by the impairment loss directly. For

trade receivables the carrying amount is reduced via an allowance account, against which an uncollectible trade

receivable is written off. 

A trade receivable is deemed to be uncollectible upon receipt of evidence that the Group will be unable to collect the

amount. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in the income statement. 

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed when, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was initially

recognised. 

- monitoring compliance with investment policies and client mandates.

- monitoring investment and fund manager performance; and

Financial risks are generally monitored and controlled by selecting appropriate assets to back policy liabilities. The

assets are regularly monitored to ensure that there are no material asset and liability mismatching issues and other risks

such as liquidity risk and credit risk are maintained within acceptable limits. 

The Board has responsibility for:

- reviewing the appointment of external investment managers;

- considering the establishment, adjustment or deletion of limits and counter-party approvals, and the scope of 

financial instruments to be used in the management of Tower Limited's investments;

- reviewing the risk management policy and statements in respect of investment management, including the 

derivative policy;

- reviewing investment policies for Tower Limited funds;
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29A MARKET RISK

(i) Currency risk

(ii) Interest rate risk

(iii) Price risk

Currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in exchange rates when applied to assets and liabilities or future

transactions denominated in a currency that is not the Group's functional currency. The exposure is not considered to be

material.

Tower Limited generally elects to not hedge the capital invested in overseas entities, thereby accepting the foreign

currency translation risk on invested capital.

Tower Limited's principal transactions are carried out in New Zealand dollars and its exposure to foreign exchange risk

arises primarily with respect to the Pacific Island insurance business.

Market risk is the risk of change in the fair value of financial instruments from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates

(currency risk), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and market prices (price risk), whether such change in price is

caused by factors specific to an individual financial instrument, or its issuer or factors affecting all financial instruments

traded in a market. 

The impact of reasonably possible changes in market risk on the Group shareholders' profit and equity is included in Note

29F. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future value cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in interest rates.  

Interest rate and other market risks are managed by the Group through a strategic asset allocation policy and an

investment management policy that has regard to policyholder expectations and risks and to target surplus for solvency as

advised by the Appointed Actuary.

Interest rate risk arises to the extent that there is a mismatch between the fixed interest portfolios used to back outstanding

claim liabilities and those outstanding claims. Interest rate risk is managed by matching the duration profiles of investment

assets and outstanding claim liabilities. 

Price risk is the risk of loss resulting from the decline in prices of equity securities or other assets. The exposure is not

considered to be material. Refer to Note 29F.

The Board sets limits for the management of currency risk arising from its investments based on prudent international

asset management practice. Regular reviews are conducted to ensure that these limits are adhered to. In accordance

with this policy, Tower Insurance does not hedge the currency risk arising from translation of the financial statements of

foreign operations other than through net investment in foreign operations. 
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29B CREDIT RISK

(i) Credit risk concentration

$ thousands 2017 2016

New Zealand government 8,184 3,744 

Other government agencies 18,412 12,390 

Banks 229,526 237,842 

Financial institutions 13,241 25,770 

Other non-investment related receivables 257,964 252,736 

Total financial assets with credit exposure 527,327 532,482 

(ii) Maximum exposure to credit risk

$ thousands 2017 2016

Cash and cash equivalents 102,876 92,228 

Loans and receivables 257,964 253,115 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 166,256 187,082 

Derivative financial assets 231 57 

Total credit risk 527,327 532,482 

Credit risk is the risk of loss that arises from a counterparty failing to meet their contractual commitment in full and on time,

or from losses arising from the change in value of a trading financial instrument as a result in changes in credit risk of that

instrument.

 The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral or any other credit enhancements, is 

as follows: 

Carrying value

Carrying value

The Group's exposure to credit risk is limited to deposits and investments held with banks and other financial institutions as

well as credit exposure to trade customers or other counterparties. Credit exposure in respect of the Group’s cash deposit

balances is limited to banks with minimum AA credit ratings. Investments held with banks and financial institutions that are

managed by investment managers have a minimum credit rating accepted by the Group of 'A'. Independent ratings are

used for customers that are rated by rating agencies. For customers with no external ratings, internally developed minimum

credit quality requirements are applied, which take into account customers' financial position, past experience and other

relevant factors. Overall exposure to credit risk is monitored on a Group basis in accordance with limits set by the Board.

The Group has no significant exposure to credit risk.

Concentration of credit risk exists when the Group enters into contracts or financial instruments with a number of

counterparties that are engaged in similar business activities or exposed to similar economic factors that might affect their

ability to meet contractual obligations. Tower Limited manages concentration of credit risk by credit rating, industry type

and individual counterparty. 

The significant concentrations of credit risk are outlined by industry type below.
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(iii) Credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

$ thousands 2017 2016

Credit exposure by credit rating

AAA 67,201 81,795 

AA 184,233 180,515 

A 527 412 

BBB  -  - 

Below BBB 15,706 12,437 

267,667 275,159 

Group 1 205,601 234,274 

Group 2  -  - 

Group 3 1,696 6,026 

Total counterparties with no external credit rating 207,297 240,300 

Total financial assets neither past due nor impaired with credit exposure 474,964 515,459 

(iv) Financial assets that would otherwise be past due whose terms have been renegotiated 

(v) Financial assets that are past due but not impaired

$ thousands Less than 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 90 days Total

As at 30 September 2017

Reinsurance recoveries receivable 3,735 2,680 1,999 35,491 43,905 

5,026 1,754 1,268 410 8,458 

8,761 4,434 3,267 35,901 52,363 

Group 2 - trade debtors outstanding for more than 6 months with no defaults in the past

Group 3 - unrated investments

Tower Insurance invests in Pacific regional investment markets through its Pacific Island operations to comply with local

statutory requirements and in accordance with Tower Insurance investment policies. These investments generally have

low credit ratings representing the majority of the value included in the 'Below BBB' and unrated categories in the table

above. 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit

ratings (if applicable) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:

Carrying value

No financial assets have been renegotiated in the past year (2016: nil).

Total

Outstanding premiums and trade 

receivables

The Group considers that financial assets are past due if payments have not been received when contractually due. At the

reporting date, the total carrying value of past due but not impaired assets held are as follows:

Total counterparties with external credit ratings

Group 1 - trade debtors outstanding for less than 6 months
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29 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(v) Financial assets that are past due but not impaired (continued)

$ thousands

Less than 30 

days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 90 days Total

As at 30 September 2016

Reinsurance recoveries receivable 1,875 2,442 45 3 4,365 

3,150 7,978 1,244 285 12,657 

5,025 10,420 1,289 288 17,022 

(vi) Financial assets that are individually impaired

$ thousands 2017 2016

 -  - 

 -  - 

29C FINANCING AND LIQUIDITY RISK

$ thousands

Carrying 

value

Total 

contractual 

cash flows

Less than 

one year

One to two 

years

Two to three 

years

Three to five 

years

As at 30 September 2017

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 19,069 19,069 19,069  -  -  - 

Reinsurance payables 4,063 4,063 4,063  -  -  - 

Other payables 2,682 2,682 2,682  -  -  - 

Derivative financial liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Borrowings 29,921 29,921 29,921  -  -  - 

55,735 55,735 55,735  -  -  - 

As at 30 September 2016

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 18,923 18,923 18,923  -  -  - 

Reinsurance payables 4,445 4,445 4,445  -  -  - 

Other payables 3,164 3,164 3,164  -  -  - 

Derivative financial liabilities 735 735 735  -  -  - 

27,267 27,267 27,267  -  -  - 

Financing and liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its cash outflows or refinance debt obligations,

as they fall due, because of lack of liquid assets or access to funding on acceptable terms. To mitigate financing and

liquidity risk the Group maintains sufficient liquid assets to ensure that the Group can meet its debt obligations and other

cash outflows on a timely basis. 

Financial liabilities and guarantees by contractual maturity 

The table below summarises the Group's financial liabilities and guarantees into relevant maturity groups based on the

remaining period to the contractual maturity date at balance date. All amounts disclosed are contractual undiscounted

cash flows that include interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements.

Total

Total

Outstanding premiums and trade receivables

Total

Outstanding premiums and trade receivables

Carrying value

Total
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29 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

29D FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

29E DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Less than 1 year 0% 0% 25,249 29,419 166 (735)

1 to 2 years 0% 0%  -  -  -  - 

2 to 5 years 2% 2% 20,580 12,000 65 57 

0% 0%  -  -  -  - 

45,829 41,419 231 (678)

29F SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 

(i) Interest rate 

$ thousands Profit after tax Equity Profit after tax Equity

Change in variables

+ 50 basis points (511) (511) (515) (515)

-  50 basis points 409 409 469 469 

This analysis assumes that the sensitivity applies to the closing market yields of fixed interest investments. A parallel shift

in the yield curve is assumed.  

The risks assumed and methods used for deriving sensitivity information and significant variables have been applied

consistently over the reporting period included in the analysis.

Notional principal amount

Average contracted 

fixed interest

Impact on: Impact on:

The analysis below demonstrates the impact of changes in interest rates, exchange rates and equity prices on profit after

tax and equity on continuing business. The analysis is based on changes in economic conditions that are considered

reasonably possible at the reporting date. The potential impact is assumed as at the reporting date.

The impact of a 50 basis point change in New Zealand and international interest rates as at the reporting date on profit

after tax and equity is included in the tables below. The sensitivity analysis assumes changes in interest rates only. All

other variables are held constant. 

2017 2016

$ thousands$ thousands%

Refer to Note 28B, which discusses the fair value of financial assets and liabilities.

The Group utilises derivative financial instruments to reduce investment risk. Specifically, derivatives are used to achieve

cost effective short-term re-weightings of asset class, sector and security exposures and to hedge portfolios, as an

economic hedge, when a market is subject to significant short-term risk.   

Over 5 years

Derivative financial instruments used by the Group are interest rate swaps. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value

on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The fair values of

interest rate swaps are calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each

contract using market interest rates. The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the start of the

financial year.    

The table below details the notional principal amounts (amounts used to calculate payments made on swap contracts), fair

values and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts outstanding as at the reporting date:

Fair value
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29 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(ii) Foreign currency

$ thousands Profit after tax Equity Profit after tax Equity

Change in variables

10% appreciation of New Zealand dollar 292 (2,380) 86 (2,284)

10% depreciation of New Zealand dollar (357) 2,909 (105) 2,791 

(iii) Equity price

(iv) Other price

$ thousands Profit after tax Equity Profit after tax Equity

Change in variables

+ 10% property funds and other unit trusts 2 2 2 2 

-  10% property funds and other unit trusts (2) (2) (2) (2)

The risks assumed and methods used for deriving sensitivity information and significant variables have been applied

consistently over the reporting period included in the analysis.

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities will decrease as a result of changes in levels of equity indices and

the value of individual stocks. The Group does not hold any listed equities at fair value through profit or loss (2016: nil). 

Impact on:

The risks assumed and methods used for deriving sensitivity information and significant variables have been applied

consistently over the two reporting periods included in the analysis.  

Other price sensitivity includes sensitivity to unit price fluctuations. Unit price risk is the risk that the fair value of

investments in property fund units and international equities held in unit trusts will decrease as a result of changes in the

value of these units.

The following tables demonstrate the impact of a 10% movement in the value of property funds and other unit trusts on the

profit after tax and equity. The potential impact is assumed as at the reporting date. 

2017 2016

Impact on:

2016

Impact on: Impact on:

The dollar impact of the change in currency movements is determined by applying the sensitivity to the value of the

international assets.

The following tables demonstrate the impact of a 10% movement of currency rates against the New Zealand dollar on profit

after tax and equity. The analysis assumes changes in foreign currency rates only, with all other variables held constant.

The potential impact on the profit and equity of the Group is due to the changes in fair value of currency sensitive monetary

assets and liabilities as at the reporting date. 

2017
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30 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Tower shareholder equity 214,419 222,578 

Standby credit facility (undrawn) 22 20,000 50,000 

Total capital resources 234,419 272,578 

31 OPERATING LEASES

$ thousands 2017 2016

As lessee

Rent payable to the end of the lease terms are:

Not later than one year 2,806 3,044 

Later than one year and not later than five years 7,444 7,763 

Later than five years 2,010 3,733 

12,260 14,540 

The Group's objective when managing capital is to ensure that the level of capital is sufficient to meet the Group's

statutory solvency obligations including on a look forward basis to enable it to continue as a going concern in order to

meet the needs of its policyholders, to provide returns for shareholders, and to provide benefits for other stakeholders of

the Group.

The Group's capital resources include shareholders' equity.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as

operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the periods the services are received over

the period of the lease. Operating lease payments represent future rentals payable for office space under current leases.

Initial leases were for an average of four years with rental rates reviewed every two to six years.

The Group measures adequacy of capital against the Solvency Standards for Non-life Insurance Business (the solvency

standards) published by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand (RBNZ) alongside additional capital held to meet RBNZ

minimum requirements and any further capital as determined by the Board.   

The Group is required by RBNZ to maintain a minimum solvency margin of no less than $50.0 million (2016: $50.0 million)

in Tower Insurance Limited. The actual solvency capital as determined under the solvency standards is required to exceed

the minimum solvency capital level by at least this amount. 

The Group holds assets in excess of the levels specified by the various solvency requirements to ensure that it continues

to meet the minimum requirements under a reasonable range of adverse scenarios. The Group’s capital management

strategy forms part of the Group’s broader strategic planning process overseen by the Audit and Risk Committee of the

Board.

During the year ended 30 September 2017 the Group complied with all externally imposed capital requirements. 
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32 SUBSIDIARIES

Name of company

2017 2016

Incorporated in New Zealand

Tower Financial Services Group Limited NZ 100% 100% Holding company

Tower Insurance Limited NZ 100% 100% General insurance

Tower New Zealand Limited NZ 100% 100% Management services

Incorporated Overseas

Tower Insurance (Cook Islands) Limited Cook Islands 100% 100% General insurance

Tower Insurance (Fiji) Limited Fiji 100% 100% General insurance

Tower Insurance (PNG) Limited PNG 100% 100% General insurance

National Pacific Insurance Limited Samoa 71% 71% General insurance

Tower Insurance (Vanuatu) Limited Vanuatu 100% 100% General insurance

33 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

33A KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

$ thousands Note 2017 2016

Salaries and other short term employee benefits paid 4,244 4,219 

Independent director fees 509 565 

4,753 4,784 

33B LOANS TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

33C OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The table below lists Tower Limited subsidiary companies and controlled entities.  All entities have a balance date of 30 

September. 

Key management hold various policies and accounts with Tower Group companies. These are operated in the normal

course of business on normal customer terms.

Information regarding individual director and executive compensation is provided in the Corporate Governance section

of the annual report.

Holdings Nature of business

The remuneration of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

There have been no loans made to directors of the Company and other key management personnel of the Group,

including their personally related parties (2016: nil).

Country 

Incorporated in
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34 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no other contingent liabilities (2016: nil).

35 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

36 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Capital raise process

Suncorp Group Limited / Vero Insurance New Zealand Limited (Suncorp)

On 7 November 2017, Tower advised that the SIA with Suncorp had passed its end date and had been terminated.

Suncorp subsequently announced that as a result, it would no longer be proceeding with its appeal of the Commerce

Commission’s decision to decline its application to acquire Tower.

Following Suncorp’s announcement, the Tower Board withdrew its cross appeal against the Commerce Commission’s

decision.

Under the Fairfax mutual termination agreement, a break fee of $1.57 million is payable to Fairfax if another party

completes an acquisition of Tower by 31 August 2018.

The Group has no capital commitments at reporting date (2016: nil).

The Group is occasionally subject to claims and disputes as a commercial outcome of conducting insurance business.

Provisions are recorded for these claims or disputes when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to

settle any obligations. Best estimates are included within claims reserves for any litigation that has arisen in the usual

course of business. 

The Tower Board has announced it will undertake a capital raising process commencing 14 November 2017. The

capital raise will be by way of a fully underwritten, renounceable rights issue. An amount of $70.8 million gross of fees

will be raised, with rights offered at a ratio of 1 for every 1 ordinary shares held on the record date of 22 November

2017. It is expected new shares will be allotted and quoted on NZX and ASX in December 2017. Capital will be utilised

to repay the BNZ banking facility partially drawn in May 2017 and to allow accelerated growth in Tower’s strategy.
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Independentauditor’sreport
To th e sh areh old ersofTow er Lim ited

Th e financialstatem entscom p rise:
 th e consolid ated balance sh eetasat30 Sep tem ber 2017;
 th e consolid ated incom e statem entfor th e year th en end ed ;
 th e consolid ated statem entofcom p reh ensive incom e for th e year th en end ed ;
 th e consolid ated statem entofch ang esin equity for th e year th en end ed ;
 th e consolid ated statem entofcash flow sfor th e year th en end ed ;and
 th e notesto th e financialstatem ents, w h ich includ e a sum m ary ofg eneralaccounting p olicies.

Our opinion
In our op inion, th e financialstatem entsofTow er Lim ited (th e Com p any), includ ing itssubsid iaries
(th e G roup), p resentfairly, in allm aterialresp ects, th e financialp osition ofth e G roup asat30
Sep tem ber 2017, itsfinancialp erform ance and itscash flow sfor th e year th en end ed in accord ance
w ith N ew Zealand Equivalentsto InternationalFinancialRep orting Stand ard s(N Z IFRS)and
InternationalFinancialRep orting Stand ard s(IFRS).

Basisfor opinion
W e cond ucted our aud itin accord ance w ith InternationalStand ard son Aud iting (N ew Zealand )(ISAs
NZ)and InternationalStand ard son Aud iting (ISAs).Our resp onsibilitiesund er th ose stand ard sare
furth er d escribed in th e Aud itor’sresponsibilitiesfor th eaud itofth efinancialstatem entssection of
our rep ort.

W e believe th atth e aud itevid ence w e h ave obtained issufficientand ap p rop riate to p rovid e a basisfor
our op inion.

W e are ind ep end entofth e G roup in accord ance w ith Professionaland Eth icalStand ard 1(Revised )
Cod eofEth icsfor AssurancePractitioners(PES1)issued by th e N ew Zealand Aud iting and Assurance
Stand ard sBoard and th e InternationalEth icsStand ard sBoard for Accountants’Cod eofEth icsfor
ProfessionalAccountants(IESBA Cod e), and w e h ave fulfilled our oth er eth icalresp onsibilitiesin
accord ance w ith th ese requirem ents.

Our firm carriesoutoth er servicesfor th e G roup in th e areasofsolvency return assurance and ag reed
upon p roced ures.Th e p rovision ofth ese oth er servicesh asnotim p aired our ind ep end ence asaud itor
ofth e G roup.In ad d ition, certain p artnersand em ployeesofour firm m ay d ealw ith Tow er Lim ited
and th e G roup on norm alterm sw ith in th e ord inary course oftrad ing activitiesofTow er Lim ited and
th e G roup.Th ese m attersh ave notim p aired our ind ep end ence.W e h ave no oth er interestsin Tow er
Lim ited or th e G roup .
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Our aud itapproach

Overview

An aud itisd esig ned to obtain reasonable assurance w h eth er th e financial

statem entsare free from m aterialm isstatem ent.

Overallg roup m ateriality:$3,068 th ousand , w h ich rep resentsap p roxim ately

1% ofp rem ium revenue.

W e ch ose p rem ium revenue asth e bench m arkbecause, in our view , itisa key

financialstatem entm etric used in assessing th e p erform ance ofth e G roup and

isnotasvolatile asoth er p rofitand lossm easures, and isa g enerally accep ted

bench m ark.Th e 1% isbased on our p rofessionaljud g em ent, noting th atitis

also w ith in th e rang e ofcom m only accep ted revenue related th resh old s.

Th e follow ing h ave been d eterm ined askey aud itm atters:

 Outstand ing claim sand related reinsurance and oth er recoveries

 Recoverability ofth e d eferred tax asset

M ateriality

Th e scop e ofour aud itw asinfluenced by our ap p lication ofm ateriality.

Based on our p rofessionaljud g em ent, w e d eterm ined certain quantitative th resh old sfor m ateriality,
includ ing th e overallG roup m ateriality for th e financialstatem entsasa w h ole assetoutabove.Th ese,
tog eth er w ith qualitative consid erations, h elp ed usto d eterm ine th e scop e ofour aud it, th e nature,
tim ing and extentofour aud itp roced uresand to evaluate th e effectofm isstatem ents, both
ind ivid ually and in ag g reg ate on th e financialstatem entsasa w h ole.

Aud itscop e

W e d esig ned our aud itby assessing th e risksofm aterialm isstatem entin th e financialstatem entsand
our ap p lication ofm ateriality.Asin allofour aud its, w e also ad d ressed th e riskofm anag em ent
overrid e ofinternalcontrolsinclud ing am ong oth er m atters, consid eration ofw h eth er th ere w as
evid ence ofbiasth atrep resented a riskofm aterialm isstatem entd ue to fraud .

W e tailored th e scop e ofour aud itin ord er to p erform sufficientw orkto enable usto p rovid e an
op inion on th e financialstatem entsasa w h ole, taking into accountth e structure ofth e G roup , th e
accounting p rocessesand controls, and th e ind ustry in w h ich th e G roup op erates.

Our G roup aud itscop e focused on th e m ostfinancially sig nificantsubsid iary, w h ich contributes8 0%

ofth e G roup ’sp rem ium revenue.W e p erform ed furth er aud itp roced uresover th e balancesand

transactionsofth e non-sig nificantsubsid iariesand th e consolid ation ofth e G roup ’ssubsid iaries.
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Key aud itm atters
Key aud itm attersare th ose m attersth at, in our p rofessionaljud g m ent, w ere ofm ostsig nificance in our aud it
ofth e financialstatem entsofth e currentyear.Th ese m attersw ere ad d ressed in th e contextofour aud itof
th e financialstatem entsasa w h ole, and in form ing our op inion th ereon, and w e d o notp rovid e a sep arate
op inion on th ese m atters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

1) Outstanding claims and related reinsurance and other recoveries from the Earthquake
Commission (EQC) and Peak Re

Th isisa key aud itm atter because ofth e com plexity involved in th e estim ation p rocessand th e sig nificant
jud g em entsth atm anag em entm ake in d eterm ining th e balances.

Notes8 , 20 and 27 to th e financialstatem entsd escribe th e elem entsofth e outstand ing claim s, related
reinsurance and oth er recoveriesand assum p tionsused in th e calculation.

(a)Outstandingclaims($181,156thousand)

Centralestimateofexpectedpresentvalue

offuturepaymentsforclaimsincurred

Th e valuation ofoutstand ing claim sinvolves

sig nificantjud g em entg iven th e inh erent

uncertainty in th e calculation ofth e centralestim ate

ofth e exp ected p resentvalue offuture p aym entsfor

claim sincurred (centralestim ate).

In p articular, jud g em entarisesover th e estim ation

ofp aym entsfor claim sth ath ave been incurred at

th e rep orting d ate buth ave notyetbeen rep orted to

th e G roup , or claim sth ath ave been rep orted but

th ere isuncertainty over th e am ountw h ich w illbe

settled .

Th isestim ate relieson th e quality ofund erlying

d ata, includ ing h istoricalclaim sd ata, and th e

ap p lication ofcom plex and subjective actuarial

m od elsand m eth od olog ies, jud g em entsand

assum p tionsaboutfuture events.

Our aud itp roced uresinclud ed th e follow ing :

 Re-p erform ing key actuariald ata reconciliations
by ag reeing claim sd ata to th e g eneralled g er.

 Insp ecting a sam ple ofclaim sp aid d uring th e year
to ch eckth atth ey w ere sup p orted by ap p rop riate
d ocum entation and ap p roved w ith in d eleg ated
auth ority lim its.

 Testing th e h istoricalclaim sd ata by:

o evaluating th e d esig n and effectivenessof
controlsover th e p rocessing ofclaim s,

o for a sam ple ofclaim soutstand ing atyear
end , ag reeing to sup p orting d ocum ents.

 W e utilised our actuarialsp ecialiststo assistus
w ith :

o evaluating th e actuarialm od elsand
m eth od olog iesby com p aring w ith g enerally
accep ted m od elsand m eth od olog iesap p lied
in th e sector and w ith th e p rior year,

o assessing key actuarialjud g em entsand
assum p tionsby com p aring w ith our
exp ectationsbased on th e G roup ’s
exp erience, our ow n sector know led g e and
ind ep end ently observable trend s, and

o consid ering th e w orkand find ing softh e
externalind ep end entactuarieseng ag ed by
th e G roup.
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Riskmargin

Outstand ing claim sinclud e a riskm arg in th at

allow sfor th e inh erentuncertainty in th e central

estim ate ofth e future claim p aym ents.In

d eterm ining th e riskm arg in, th e G roup m akes

jud g em entsaboutth e volatility ofeach classof

businessw ritten and th e correlation betw een each

d ivision and betw een d ifferentg eog rap h ical

locations.

W ith th e assistance ofour actuarialsp ecialistsw e

assessed th e G roup ’sap p roach to d eterm ining th e risk

m arg in by com p aring to know n ind ustry p racticesand

th e ActuariesInstitute recom m end ed fram ew ork.In

p articular w e focused on th e assessed levelof

uncertainty in th e centralestim ate.

W e h ave no m attersto rep ortfrom th e p roced ures

p erform ed .

(b)Reinsuranceandotherrecoveriesfrom

EQC($65,100thousand)andPeakRe

($43,750thousand)

Sig nificantm anag em entjud g em entisrequired to

value:

 exp ected recoveriesfrom EQC in resp ectofland

d am ag e and build ing costs, asth ese recoveries

are subjectto ag reem entw ith EQ C, and

 reinsurance recoveriesfrom PeakRe, asth ese

are d ep end entupon th e outcom e ofa leg al

arbitration p rocess.

Th e exp ected recoveriesfrom EQC are related to th e

Canterbury earth quakes, and require jud g em ent

and actuarialexp ertise to evaluate th e attribution of

claim scostbetw een th e m ajor earth quake events, in

p articular th e Sep tem ber 2010 and February 2011

events.

W e assessed m anag em ent’sap p roach to estim ate th e
recoveriesfrom EQC.W e review ed corresp ond ence
w ith EQ C and h eld d iscussionsw ith m anag em ent,
law yersand externalind ep end entactuariesto
und erstand assum p tions, includ ing th e attribution of
lossesto th e d ifferentCanterbury earth quake events,
used to establish th e rig h tto recovery.W e com p ared
th ese assum p tionsw ith sector p eersand soug h t
evid ence for any sig nificantvariances.

For reinsurance recoveriesfrom PeakRe, w e d iscussed
w ith m anag em entth e statusofth e arbitration p rocess.
W e review ed th e leg alcorresp ond ence betw een th e
G roup and PeakRe law yersand h eld d iscussionsw ith
th e law yersad vising th e G roup.

W e h ave no m attersto rep ortfrom th e p roced ures
p erform ed .

2)Recoverabilityofthedeferredtaxasset

Th e G roup h asa d eferred tax assetbalance of

$32,745 th ousand , ofw h ich $26,9 58 th ousand

relatesto d eferred tax assetsarising from p asttax

losses.W e focused on th e d eferred tax assetfrom

tax lossesasitsrecoverability issensitive to th e

G roup ’sexp ected future p rofitability and its

entitlem entto offsetth ese lossesag ainstfuture

p rofits.Sig nificantm anag em entjud g em entis

involved in forecasting future taxable p rofitsw h ich

are inh erently uncertain.

Refer to note 10 to th e financialstatem ents.

W e evaluated th e p rog ressm ad e by m anag em entin

im p roving th e p rofitability ofth e businessin recent

p eriod s, w h ich includ esth e rem ed iation ofth e causes

ofp astlossesth roug h , am ong stoth er th ing s,

assessm entofth e Canterbury earth quakesclaim sand

related reinsurance and oth er recoveries(assessm ent

ofth e recoverability ofth e receivablesfrom EQ C and

PeakRe)and oth er exp ense red uction and incom e

initiatives.W e noted th atp rog ressh asbeen m ad e in

relation to each ofth ese m atters.

W e assessed th e op erationalplan used in th e d eferred

tax assetrecoverability assessm entby com p aring

p reviousbusinessplansw ith actualresultsand
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assessed th e ap p rop riatenessofth e assum p tionsused

in th e op erationalplan.

W e used our tax sp ecialistto assessw h eth er th e G roup

isentitled to offsetth e tax lossesag ainstfuture p rofits.

W e h ave no m attersto rep ortfrom th e p roced ures
p erform ed .

Inform ation oth er th an th efinancialstatem entsand aud itor’sreport
Th e Directorsare resp onsible for th e annualrep ort.Our op inion on th e financialstatem entsd oesnot
cover th e oth er inform ation includ ed in th e annualrep ortand w e d o notexp ressany form ofassurance
conclusion on th e oth er inform ation.

In connection w ith our aud itofth e financialstatem ents, our resp onsibility isto read th e oth er
inform ation and , in d oing so, consid er w h eth er th e oth er inform ation ism aterially inconsistentw ith
th e financialstatem entsor our know led g e obtained in th e aud it, or oth erw ise ap p earsto be m aterially
m isstated .If, based on th e w orkw e h ave p erform ed on th e oth er inform ation th atw e obtained p rior to
th e d ate ofth isaud itor’srep ort, w e conclud e th atth ere isa m aterialm isstatem entofth isoth er
inform ation, w e are required to rep ortth atfact.W e h ave noth ing to rep ortin th isreg ard .

Responsibilitiesofth eDirectorsfor th efinancialstatem ents
Th e Directorsare resp onsible, on beh alfofth e Com p any, for th e p rep aration and fair p resentation of
th e financialstatem entsin accord ance w ith N Z IFRSand IFRS, and for such internalcontrolasth e
Directorsd eterm ine isnecessary to enable th e p rep aration offinancialstatem entsth atare free from
m aterialm isstatem ent, w h eth er d ue to fraud or error.

In p rep aring th e financialstatem ents, th e D irectorsare resp onsible for assessing th e G roup ’sability to
continue asa g oing concern, d isclosing , asap p licable, m attersrelated to g oing concern and using th e
g oing concern basisofaccounting unlessth e Directorseith er intend to liquid ate th e G roup or to cease
op erations, or h ave no realistic alternative butto d o so.

Aud itor’sresponsibilitiesfor th eaud itofth efinancialstatem ents
Our objectivesare to obtain reasonable assurance aboutw h eth er th e financialstatem ents, asa w h ole,
are free from m aterialm isstatem ent, w h eth er d ue to fraud or error, and to issue an aud itor’srep ort
th atinclud esour op inion.Reasonable assurance isa h ig h levelofassurance, butisnota g uarantee
th atan aud itcond ucted in accord ance w ith ISAsNZ and ISAsw illalw aysd etecta m aterial
m isstatem entw h en itexists.M isstatem entscan arise from fraud or error and are consid ered m aterial
if, ind ivid ually or in th e ag g reg ate, th ey could reasonably be exp ected to influence th e econom ic
d ecisionsofuserstaken on th e basisofth ese financialstatem ents.

A furth er d escrip tion ofour resp onsibilitiesfor th e aud itofth e financialstatem entsislocated atth e
ExternalRep orting Board ’sw ebsite at:
h ttp s://w w w .xrb.g ovt.nz/stand ard s-for-assurance-p ractitioners/aud itors-resp onsibilities/aud it-rep ort-1/

Th isd escrip tion form sp artofour aud itor’srep ort.
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W h o w e reportto
Th isrep ortism ad e solely to th e Com p any’ssh areh old ers, asa bod y.Our aud itw orkh asbeen
und ertaken so th atw e m ig h tstate th ose m attersw h ich w e are required to state to th em in an aud itor’s
rep ortand for no oth er purp ose.To th e fullestextentp erm itted by law , w e d o notaccep tor assum e
resp onsibility to anyone oth er th an th e Com p any and th e Com p any’ssh areh old ers, asa bod y, for our
aud itw ork, for th isrep ortor for th e op inionsw e h ave form ed .

Th e eng ag em entp artner on th e aud itresulting in th isind ep end entaud itor’srep ortisKarlDeutsch le.

For and on beh alfof:

Ch artered Accountants Auckland
14 Novem ber 2017
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APPENDIX 7 – NZSX Listing Rules

Number of pages including this one
(Please provide any other relevant

NZSX Listing Rule 7.12.2. For rights, NZSX Listing Rules 7.10.9 and 7.10.10.  details on additional pages)
For change to allotment, NZSX Listing Rule 7.12.1, a separate advice is required.

Full name
of Issuer

Name of officer authorised to Authority for event,
make this notice e.g. Directors' resolution

Contact phone Contact fax
number number Date

Nature of event Bonus If ticked, Rights Issue
Tick as appropriate Issue state whether: Taxable / Non Taxable Conversion Interest Renouncable 

Rights Issue Capital Call Dividend If ticked, state Full
non-renouncable change whether: Interim Year Special DRP Applies

EXISTING securities affected by this If more than one security is affected by the event, use a separate form.

Description of the ISIN
class of securities

If unknown, contact NZX

Details of securities issued pursuant to this event If more than one class of security is to be issued, use a separate form for each class.

Description of the ISIN
class of securities

If unknown, contact NZX

Number of Securities to Minimum Ratio, e.g
be issued following event Entitlement   1   for    2   for

Conversion, Maturity, Call Treatment of Fractions
Payable or Exercise Date

Tick if provide an
pari passu OR explanation

Strike price per security for any issue in lieu or date of the
Strike Price available. ranking

Monies Associated with Event Dividend payable, Call payable, Exercise price, Conversion price, Redemption price, Application money.

Source of
Amount per security Payment
(does not include any excluded income)

Excluded income per security
(only applicable to listed PIEs)

Supplementary Amount per security
Currency dividend in dollars and cents

details -
NZSX Listing Rule 7.12.7

Total monies

Taxation Amount per Security in Dollars and cents to six decimal places

In the case of a taxable bonus Resident Imputation Credits
issue state strike price Withholding Tax (Give details)

Foreign FDP Credits
Withholding Tax (Give details)

Timing (Refer Appendix 8 in the NZSX Listing Rules)

Record Date 7pm Application Date
For calculation of entitlements - Also, Call Payable, Dividend /

Interest Payable, Exercise Date,
Conversion Date. 

Notice Date Allotment Date
Entitlement letters, call notices, For the issue of new securities.
conversion notices mailed Must be within 5 business days

of application closing date.

OFFICE USE ONLY
Ex Date:
Commence Quoting Rights: Security Code:
Cease Quoting Rights 5pm:
Commence Quoting New Securities: Security Code:
Cease Quoting Old Security 5pm:

22 November 2017 13 December 2017

By 27 November 2017 20 December 2017

N/A N/A N/A

N/A N/A

NZD N/A

$70.8 million Date Payable N/A

N/A N/A
Enter N/A if not 

applicable 

N/A

NZTWRE0011S2

Ordinary shares NZTWRE0011S2

In dollars and cents

N/A
$0.420

09 369 2235 N/A 14 11 2017

168,662,150 N/A 1 1

Ordinary shares

EMAIL: announce@nzx.com

Notice of event affecting securities
1

Tower Limited

Directors' resolutionDavid Callanan
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Appendix 3B 
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Name of entity 

Tower Limited (Tower) 

 
ARBN 

088 481 234 

 
We (the entity) give ASX the following information. 
 
 

Part 1 - All issues 
You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space). 
 

1 +Class of +securities issued or to 
be issued 
 

Fully paid ordinary shares (New Shares). 

   
2 Number of +securities issued or 

to be issued (if known) or 
maximum number which may 
be issued 
 

168,662,150 New Shares, to be issued 
pursuant to the terms of an underwritten 
renounceable pro rata entitlement offer 
(Entitlement Offer) announced on ASX on 
14 November 2017. 

   
3 Principal terms of the 

+securities (e.g. if options, 
exercise price and expiry date; if 
partly paid +securities, the 
amount outstanding and due 
dates for payment; if 
+convertible securities, the 
conversion price and dates for 
conversion) 

The New Shares will have the same terms as 
the existing quoted fully paid ordinary 
shares in Tower. 
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4 Do the +securities rank equally 

in all respects from the +issue 
date with an existing +class of 
quoted +securities? 
 
If the additional +securities do 
not rank equally, please state: 

 the date from which they do 

 the extent to which they 
participate for the next 
dividend, (in the case of a 
trust, distribution) or 
interest payment 

 the extent to which they do 
not rank equally, other than 
in relation to the next 
dividend, distribution or 
interest payment 

Yes. The New Shares will rank equally with 
existing ordinary shares from the date of 
issue of the New Shares. 

   
5 Issue price or consideration 

 
NZ$0.42 per New Share for eligible New 
Zealand shareholders, and A$0.39 per New 
Share for eligible Australian shareholders. 

   
6 Purpose of the issue 

(If issued as consideration for 
the acquisition of assets, clearly 
identify those assets) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To provide further capital for Tower's 
subsidiary, Tower Insurance Limited, and 
for general corporate purposes. 

   
6a Is the entity an +eligible entity 

that has obtained security 
holder approval under rule 7.1A? 
 
If Yes, complete sections 6b – 6h 
in relation to the +securities the 
subject of this Appendix 3B, and 
comply with section 6i 

N/A 

   
6b The date the security holder 

resolution under rule 7.1A was 
passed 

N/A 

   
6c Number of +securities issued 

without security holder approval 
under rule 7.1 

N/A 
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6d Number of +securities issued 
with security holder approval 
under rule 7.1A 

N/A 

   
6e Number of +securities issued 

with security holder approval 
under rule 7.3, or another 
specific security holder approval 
(specify date of meeting) 
 

N/A 

   
6f Number of +securities issued 

under an exception in rule 7.2 
N/A 

   
6g If +securities issued under rule 

7.1A, was issue price at least 75% 
of 15 day VWAP as calculated 
under rule 7.1A.3?  Include the 
+issue date and both values.  
Include the source of the VWAP 
calculation. 

N/A 

   
6h If +securities were issued under 

rule 7.1A for non-cash 
consideration, state date on 
which valuation of 
consideration was released to 
ASX Market Announcements 

N/A 

   
6i Calculate the entity’s remaining 

issue capacity under rule 7.1 and 
rule 7.1A – complete Annexure 1 
and release to ASX Market 
Announcements 

N/A 

   
7 +Issue dates 

Note: The issue date may be prescribed by 
ASX (refer to the definition of issue date in 
rule 19.12).  For example, the issue date for a 
pro rata entitlement issue must comply with 
the applicable timetable in Appendix 7A. 

Cross reference: item 33 of Appendix 3B. 

20 December 2017  

   
  Number +Class 
8 Number and +class of all 

+securities quoted on ASX 
(including the +securities in 
section 2 if applicable) 
 
 
 

After completion of 
the Entitlement 
Offer, there will be 
up to 337,324,300 
fully paid ordinary 
shares quoted on 
ASX. 

Fully paid ordinary 
shares 
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  Number +Class 
9 Number and +class of all 

+securities not quoted on ASX 
(including the +securities in 
section 2 if applicable) 
 
 
 

N/A 
 
 

N/A 

   
10 Dividend policy (in the case of a 

trust, distribution policy) on the 
increased capital (interests) 

Tower has presently suspended dividend 
payments. Tower’s Board and management 
team are strongly committed to paying 
dividends and to the efficient management 
of capital. Tower’s Board will review the 
dividend policy and look to recommence 
dividends in FY18.  

 
 

Part 2 - Pro rata issue 
 

11 Is security holder approval 
required? 
 

No. 

   
12 Is the issue renounceable or non-

renounceable? 
Renounceable. 

   
13 Ratio in which the +securities 

will be offered 
1 New Share for every 1 fully paid ordinary 
share held by each eligible shareholder as 
at the record date for the Entitlement 
Offer. 

   
14 +Class of +securities to which the 

offer relates 
Fully paid ordinary shares. 

   
15 +Record date to determine 

entitlements 
7:00 PM (New Zealand time) on 22 
November 2017. 
 

   
16 Will holdings on different 

registers (or subregisters) be 
aggregated for calculating 
entitlements? 

No. 

   
17 Policy for deciding entitlements 

in relation to fractions 
 

N/A 
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18 Names of countries in which the 
entity has security holders who 
will not be sent new offer 
documents 

Note: Security holders must be told how their 
entitlements are to be dealt with. 

Cross reference: rule 7.7. 

All countries other than Australia and New 
Zealand. 

   
19 Closing date for receipt of 

acceptances or renunciations 
7.00pm (New Zealand Time) on 13 
December 2017 

 
 
 
 
 

  

20 Names of any underwriters 
 
 

Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited 
(Goldman Sachs) 

   
21 Amount of any underwriting fee 

or commission 
An underwriting fee of 1.9% of the proceeds 
of the Entitlement Offer will be paid to 
Goldman Sachs. 

   
22 Names of any brokers to the 

issue 
 
 

N/A 

   
23 Fee or commission payable to the 

broker to the issue 
N/A 

   
24 Amount of any handling fee 

payable to brokers who lodge 
acceptances or renunciations on 
behalf of security holders 

N/A 

   
25 If the issue is contingent on 

security holders’ approval, the 
date of the meeting 

N/A 

   
26 Date entitlement and acceptance 

form and offer documents will be 
sent to persons entitled 

No disclosure document is being prepared.  
The Offer Booklet will be released to the 
market on or around 16 November 2017. An 
Offer Booklet and personalised entitlement 
and acceptance form will be sent to eligible 
shareholders by 27 November 2017. 

   
27 If the entity has issued options, 

and the terms entitle option 
holders to participate on 
exercise, the date on which 
notices will be sent to option 
holders 

N/A  

   
28 Date rights trading will begin (if 21 November 2017 on the NZX Main Board 
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applicable) 

  
 
 

 

29 Date rights trading will end (if 
applicable) 
 
 

7 December 2017 

   
30 How do security holders sell 

their entitlements in full through 
a broker? 

Entitlements will not be quoted on ASX 
and cannot be traded on ASX. Eligible 
shareholders may sell some or all of their 
entitlements on the NZX Main Board in 
accordance with the listing rules of the 
NZX and in accordance with the details set 
out in the Offer Booklet and entitlement 
and acceptance form.  

   
31 How do security holders sell part 

of their entitlements through a 
broker and accept for the 
balance? 

Entitlements will not be quoted on ASX 
and cannot be traded on ASX. Eligible 
shareholders may sell some or all of their 
rights on the NZX Main Board in 
accordance with the rules of the NZX and 
in accordance with the details set out in the 
Offer Booklet and entitlement and 
acceptance form. 
 

   
32 How do security holders dispose 

of their entitlements (except by 
sale through a broker)? 

Entitlements will not be quoted on ASX 
and cannot be traded on ASX. Eligible 
shareholders may sell some or all of their 
rights on the NZX Main Board in 
accordance with the rules of the NZX and 
in accordance with the details set out in the 
Offer Booklet and entitlement and 
acceptance form.  
 

   
33 +Issue date 

 
 

20 December 2017. 

 
 

Part 3 - Quotation of securities 
You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities 

 
34 Type of +securities 

(tick one) 
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(a) 
 
+Securities described in Part 1 

   

 
(b) 

 
All other +securities 

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid, 
employee incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible 
securities 

 
Entities that have ticked box 34(a) 

 
Additional securities forming a new class of securities 
 

 
Tick to indicate you are providing the information or 
documents 

  

 
35 


If the +securities are +equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the 
additional +securities, and the number and percentage of additional +securities 
held by those holders 

   

36 


If the +securities are +equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional 
+securities setting out the number of holders in the categories 
1 - 1,000 
1,001 - 5,000 
5,001 - 10,000 
10,001 - 100,000 
100,001 and over 

   

37 


A copy of any trust deed for the additional +securities 

 

 
Entities that have ticked box 34(b) 
 

38 Number of +securities for which 
+quotation is sought 
 

 

  
 

39 +Class of +securities for which 
quotation is sought 
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40 Do the +securities rank equally in 
all respects from the +issue date 
with an existing +class of quoted 
+securities? 
 
If the additional +securities do not 
rank equally, please state: 

 the date from which they do 

 the extent to which they 
participate for the next 
dividend, (in the case of a 
trust, distribution) or interest 
payment 

 the extent to which they do 
not rank equally, other than in 
relation to the next dividend, 
distribution or interest 
payment 

 

   
41 Reason for request for quotation 

now  

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end 
of restriction period 

 
(if issued upon conversion of 
another +security, clearly identify 
that other +security) 

 

 

   
  Number +Class 
42 Number and +class of all 

+securities quoted on ASX 
(including the +securities in clause 
38)  
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Quotation agreement 
 
1 +Quotation of our additional +securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion.  ASX 

may quote the +securities on any conditions it decides.   
 
2 We warrant the following to ASX. 
 

 The issue of the +securities to be quoted complies with the law and is 
not for an illegal purpose. 

 

 There is no reason why those +securities should not be granted 
+quotation. 

 

 An offer of the +securities for sale within 12 months after their issue 
will not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of 
the Corporations Act. 

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be 
able to give this warranty 

 

 Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to 
any applications received by us in relation to any +securities to be 
quoted and that no-one has any right to return any +securities to be 
quoted under sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the 
time that we request that the +securities be quoted. 

 

 If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the 
+securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at 
the time that we request that the +securities be quoted. 

 

3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any 
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the 
warranties in this agreement. 

 
4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form.  If any 

information or document is not available now, we will give it to ASX before 
+quotation of the +securities begins.  We acknowledge that ASX is relying on 
the information and documents.  We warrant that they are (will be) true and 
complete. 

 
 

Sign here:              Date: 14 November 2017 
  (Company secretary) 
 
 
Print name:  David Callanan  
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14 November 2017 

NZX Limited 

Level 1, NZX Centre 

11 Cable Street 

Wellington 

ASX Limited 

20 Bridge Street 

Sydney NSW 2000 

TOWER RIGHTS ISSUE CLEANSING NOTICE 

1 Tower Limited (Tower) has announced that it will undertake a pro rata 1 for 1 

renounceable rights offer of fully paid ordinary shares of the same class as already 

quoted on the NZX Main Board of NZX Limited and the Australian Securities 

Exchange, underwritten by Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited.   

2 Pursuant to clause 20(1)(a) of Schedule 8 to the Financial Markets Conduct 

Regulations 2014 (FMC Regulations), and the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2015 

(FMCA), Tower states that: 

2.1 Tower is making the offer in reliance upon the exclusion in clause 19 of 

Schedule 1 to the FMCA and is giving this notice under clause 20(1)(a) of 

Schedule 8 to the FMC Regulations. 

2.2 As at the date of this notice, Tower is in compliance with the continuous 

disclosure obligations that apply to it in relation to ordinary shares in Tower 

and there is no information that is “excluded information” as defined in clause 

20(5) of Schedule 8 to the FMC Regulations. 

2.3 As at the date of this notice, Tower is in compliance with its financial reporting 

obligations. 

3 This notice is also given in accordance with 708AA of the Corporations Act 2001 

(Cth), as modified by Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) 

Instrument 16-0218 and in reliance on ASIC Corporations (Non-Traditional Rights 

Issues) Instrument 2016/84.  

4 The offer is not expected to have any material effect or consequence on the control 

of Tower. 

 

TOWER 

Michael Stiassny  

Chairman  

Tower Limited  

ARBN 088 481 234 Incorporated in New Zealand 

For media queries, please contact: 

Nicholas Meseldzija 

Head of Corporate Communications 

Mobile: +64 21 531 869 

Email: Nicholas.meseldzija@tower.co.nz 
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